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Independent Auditor’s Report

‘I'o the Shateholders of
Tamdeen Real Estate Company — KPSC
Kuwait

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Tamdeen Real Estate Company — Kuwaiti Public
Shareholding Company (the “Patent Company™) and Subsidiaties, (collectively the “Group”), which comptise
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2021, and the consolidated statement of
profit or loss, consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement
of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the
consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2021, and its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRSs).

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements scction of out report. We ate independent of the Group in accordance with the
International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants TESBA Code),
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IESBA Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters

ICey audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit
of the consolidated financial statements for the curtent year. These matters were addressed in the context of
our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do
not provide a separate opinion on these matters, We have determined the matters described below as the key
audit matters.

Valuation of Investment Properties

The Group’s investment properties represent significant part of the total assets. The valuation of investment
propetties is a judgement area requiting number of assumptions including capitalization yields, estimated rental
& hotel revenue, occupancy tates, historical transactions, BOT contract periods & conditions, tights of use
contract periods and renewability. The Group’s policy is that property valuations are performed at yeat end by
independent valuators, who are non-related to the Group, and they ate licensed valuators and have the required
qualifications and expetiences, Given the fact that the fair values of the investment properties represent a
significant judgment area and the valuations are highly dependent on estimates we determined this to be a key
audit matter. Refer to Notes 4.13, 16 and 30.4 for more information on investment propetties.
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Independent auditot’s report to the shatreholders of
Tamdeen Real Estate Company — KPSC (continued)

Key Audit Matters (continucd)

Valuation of Investment Properties (continued)

Our audit procedures included, among others, assessing the appropriateness of the ways and means of
evaluation and inputs used in the evaluation. We reviewed the valuation reports [rom the external valuers and
agreed them to the carrying value of the investment properties. We assessed the appropriateness of the valuation
methodologies used in assessing the fair value of the investment properties. Furthermore, we assessed that the
property related data used as input for the external valuations is consistent with information obtained during
out audit.

Carrying value of trading properties

The Group’s trading properties represent significant part of the total assets. The Group’s assessment of the
carrying value of trading propetties, being the lower of cost and net realizable value, is a judgmental process.
Management used valuations from licensed independent valuers, who are non-related to the Group, to assist
in assessing whether the net realisable values are lower than the cost of the trading propetties at the reporting
date. These valuations are based on a number of assumptions, including estimated rental revenues, capitalization
yields, occupancy rates, estimation of selling prices for each unit and sales rates and cost to complete each unit.
Accordingly, we considered this as a key audit matter. Refer to Notes 4.16 and 15 for more information on
trading properties.

Our audit procedures included, among others, assessing the appropriateness of the ways and means of
evaluation and inputs used in the evaluation and the appropriatencss of management’s process for reviewing
and assessing sclling prices. We reviewed the valuation reports from the external valuets to identify whether
the fair valuation given are indicative of a decline in the carrying value of the propetties. We assessed the
appropriateness of the valuation methodologies used in assessing the fair value of the properties. Furthermore,
whete practicable, we assessed that the property related data used as input for the external valuations is
consistent with infotmation obtained duting out audit.

Impairment of investments in associates

The Group’s investments in associates represent significant part of the total assets and are accounted for under
the equity method of accounting and considered for impairment in case of indication of impairment. Significant
management judgment and number of assumptions are tequited in the assessment of impaitment, including
the determination of the tecoverable value of the investment based on its value-in-use, in case there is a
significant or prolonged decline in value based on published price quotes. Furthet, the projected future cash
flows and discount rates used by the Group in determining the investment’s value in use are also subject to
estimation uncertainty and sensitivity. Accordingly, we considered this as a key audit matter. Refer to Notes
4.5, 5.2.3 and 17 for more information on investment in associates.

Our audit procedures included, among others, evaluating management’s consideration of the impaitment
indicators of investment in associates. In evaluating such consideration, we assessed whether any significant or
prolonged decline in value exists, whether there are any significant adverse changes in the technological market,
cconomic or legal environment in which the associate operates, or structural changes in the field of industry in
which the investee company operates, or changes in the political or legal environment effecting the investees
business, and also whether there ate any changes in the investees financial condition. We also reviewed
management’s assessment of the recoverable value of the investment including the reasonability of the cash
flow projections and discount rates used in the value in use calculation for associates, where there was a
significant or prolonged decline in value, and the appropriateness of the disclosures made in the consolidated
financial statements.

Other information included in the Group’s 2021 annual repott

Management is responsible for the other information, Othet information consists of the information included
in the Group’s 2021 Annual Report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s tepott
thereon. We obtained the report of the Parent Company’s Boatd of Directors, priot to the date of our auditor’s
report and we expect to obtain the remaining sections of the Group’s Annual Report after the date of our
auditot’s report.
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Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of
Tamdeen Real Estate Company — KPSC (continued)

Other information included in the Group’s 2021 annual repott (continued)
Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not
express any form of assurance conclusion theteon,

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information identified above and, in doing so, consider whethet the other information is materially inconsistent
with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated,

If, based on the work we have performed, on the other information that we have obtained prior to the date of
this auditor’s report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required
to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Management and those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated Financial
Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements
in accordance with IFRSs, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or errat.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless management cither intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations,
or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for oversecing the Group’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilitics for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud ot error, and to issue an auditor’s report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggtegate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of usets taken on the basis of these consolidated
{inancial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

¢ Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or etror, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and approptiate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

* Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control,

* Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by management.

* Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concetn basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may
cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty cxists, we arc required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements o, if such disclosures are inadequate, to maodily our opinion. Qut conclusions
ate based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.




o GrantThornton

Al-Qatami, Al-Aiban & Partners

Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of
Tamdeen Real Estate Company — KPSC (continued)

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

¢ Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including
the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the undetlying transactions and
events in a manner that achicves fair presentation,

* Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to cxpress an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible
for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion,

We communicate with those chatged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that
we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regatrding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other mattets that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safegnards.

Among the matters communicated with those chatged with governance, we determine those malters that wete
of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements for the current year and are therefore
considered as key audit matters. We disclosed these matters in our auditot’s report unless local laws or
regulations precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine
that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication,

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

Furthermore, in our opinion, proper books of account have been kept by the Parent Company and the
consolidated financial statements, together with the contents of the report of the Patent Company’s board of
directors relating to these consolidated financial statements, are in accordance therewith. We fusther report that
we obtained all the information and cxplanations that we requited for the purpose of our audit and that the
consolidated financial statements incorporate all information that is required by the Companies Law No. 1 of
2016 and its Executive Regulations, as amended, and by the Parent Company’s Memorandum of Incotporation
and Articles of Association, as amended, that an inventory was duly carried out and that, to the best of our
knowledge and belicf, no violations of the Companies Law No. (1) of 2016, the Executive Regulations, ot of
the Parent Company’s Memorandum of Incorporation and Articles of Association, as amended, have occurred
during the year ended 31 December 2021 that might have had a material effect on the business or financial
position of the Patent Company.

We further repott, to the best of our knowledge and belief, no violations of provisions of the Law No. 7 of
2010 regarding Capital Markets Authority (“CMA”) and its relevant tegulations have occurred during the year
ended 31 December 2021 that might have had a material effect on the business or financial position of the

Parent Company. —

Abdullatif M. Al-Aiban (CPA)
(Licence No. 94-A)
of Grant Thornton — Al-Qatami, Al-Aiban & Partners

IKuwait
16 March 2022
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Consolidated statement of profit or loss
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Year ended Year ended
31 Dec. 31 Dec.
Note 2021 2020
KD'000 KD'000
Revenue
Operating revenue 21,538 12,117
Cost of revenue 7 (a) (6,322) (5,510)
Net income 15,216 6,607
Management and consultancy fees 713 738
Gain on sale of trading properties 15 (a) 1,040 -
Change In fair value of investment properties 16 (302) (3,039)
Impairment in value of trading properties under development 14 - (4,500)
Dividends income from investments at FVOCI 3,202 10,485
Net income/ (loss)from investments in associates 9 7,409 (12,065)
Foreign currency exchange loss (986) (26)
Interest income 17 127
Other income/ (loss) 33 1,989 (421)
29,188 (2,094)
Expenses and other charges
Staff costs (2,927) (3,281)
General, administrative & other expenses (5,209) (4,212)
Finance costs (6,763) (8,160)
(14,899) (15,653)
Profit/ (loss) for the year before provision for contribution to
KFAS, provision for Zakat, provision for NLST and board of
directors’ remuneration 14,289 (17,747)
Provision for contribution to Kuwait Foundation for the Advancement
of Sciences (KFAS) 8 (84) (8)
Provision for Zakat 8 (143) (9)
Provislon for National Labour Support Tax (NLST) 8 (365) -
Board of directors' remuneration (60) -
Profit/ (loss) for the year 13,637 (17,764)
Attributable to:
Owners of the Parent Company 11,393 (12,293)
Non-controlling interests 2,244 (5,471)
13,637 (17,764)
Basic and diluted earnings/(loss) per share attributable to the
owners of the Parent Company 10 28.4 Fils (30.6) Fils

The notes set ont on pages 11 to 58 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements,
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Consolidated statement of profit or loss and other

comprehensive income

Year ended Year ended
31 Dec. 31 Dec
2021 2020
KD'000 KD'000
Profit! (loss) for the year 13,837 (17.764)
Other comprehensive (losses)/ income:
Hems to be reclassitied to consolidated statement of profit or loss:
Exchange differences arlsing on translation of foreign operations {5) (27}
Share of other comprehensive loss of associates (48) {4
{53) (31)
items that will not be reclassified to consolidated statement of
profit or loss:
Net change in fair value of investments designated at FVQOCI 49,604 (46,494)
Share of other comprehensive income/ {l0ss) of associates 1,318 {1,334)
50,922 {47,828}
Total other gomprehensive income/ (foss) for the year 50,869 {47,859)
Total comprehensive income/ ({oss} for the year 64,606 (65,623)
Total comprehensive Income/ {loss} Attributable to!
Owners of the Parent Company 39,862 {39,213)
Mon-controlting interests 24,644 {26,410)
64,608 (65.623)

The woter set ont on pages 11 to 58 form au integral part of these consolidated finanial statsments.
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Consolidated Financial Statements

31 December 2021

Consolidated statement of financial position

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
Note 2021 2020

KD'000 KD'000
Assets
Cash and bank balances 25 32,592 28,641
Short term deposits 25 75 2,635
Accounts receivable and other debit balances 11 8,145 4,850
Investments at fair value through other comprehensive income 12 219,708 171,260
Investment property under development 13 18,378 -
Trading properties under development 14 - 61,241
Trading properties 15 29,055 -
Investment properties 16 162,246 161,746
Investments in associates 17 140,482 131,749
Intangible assets 1,131 2,315
Other assets 6,668 4,964
Total assets 618,480 569,401
Total liabilities and equity
Liabilities
Due to banks 18 7,171 26,267
Term loans 19 246,081 237,753
Accounts payable and other credit balances 20 29,638 34,944
Refundable rental deposits 7,986 8,077
Provision for end of service indemnity 1,777 1,586
Total liabilities 292,653 308,627
Equity
Share capital 21 43,193 43,193
Share premium 11,132 11,132
Treasury shares 22 (11,926) (11,922)
Reserve on sale of treasury shares 756 756
Statutory reserve 23 14,799 13,629
Voluntary reserve 23 16,197 15,027
Foreign currency translation reserve 369 374
Cumulative changes in fair value 97,005 68,531
Retained earnings 22,643 13,590
Equity attributable to the owners of the Parent Company 194,168 154,310
Non-controlling interests 131,659 106,464
Total equity 325,827 260,774
Total liabilities and equity 618,480 569,401

Meshal Jassim Al-Marzougq
Chairman

AbdulWahab Marzouq Al-Marzouq

Vice Chairman

The notes set out on pages 11 to 58 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity

Equity attributable to owners of the Parent Company

Reserve on Foreign
sale currency  Cumulative Non-

Share Share Treasury of treasury  Statutery  Voluntary transiation changesin Refained Sub- controliing

capital premium shares shares reserve reserve reserve fairvalue eamrnings total interests Total

KD'000 KD'000 KD'000 KD'000 KD'000 KD'000 KD'000 KD'000 KD"000 KD000 KD'000 KD'000
Balance as at 1 January 2021 43,193 11,132 (11,922) 756 13,629 16,027 374 68,531 13,590 154,310 108,464 280,774
Purchase of freasury shares - - 4 = - - - - = (4} - 5]
Change in nor-controfiing mterest resulting from

an increase in subsidiary’s capital (Note 6 1) - - - - - - - - - - 551 554

Transactions with the owners - - {4) - - - - - - {4) 551 547
Profit for the year . . - N _ . . _ 11,393 11,393 2,244 13,637
Other comprehensive (Joss) income for the year - - - - - - (5} 28,474 - 28,469 22,400 50,869
Total comprehensive {loss)/ income for the year - - - - - - {5) 28,474 11,393 39,862 24,644 64,506
Transferred to reserves - - - - 1,170 1,170 - - {2,340) - - -
Balance as at 31 December 2021 43,193 11,132 (11,926) 756 14,795 16,197 369 97,005 22,643 194,168 131,659 325,827

The notes set out on pages 11 to 58 formr an integral part of these consolidared financial statements.




Consolidated statement of changes in equity (continued)

Equity attributable to owmers of the Parent Company

Reserve on Foreign
sale currency  Cumulative Non-

Share Share Treasury of treasury  Statutory  Voluntary translation changesin Retained Sub- controlling

capital premium shares shares regerve reserve reserve fairvalue  earnings total interests Total

KD'000 KD'000 KD000 KD'000 KD'000 KD'ooo KD'000 KD'000 KD'o00 KB'ogo KD'000 KD'000
Balance as at 1 January 2020 43,193 11,132 {11,803) 756 13,629 15,027 401 95,424 27,893 195,852 134,687 330,339
Purchase of freasury shares - - (i19} - - - - - - (119) - (19}
Dwidends paid to non-controlking nterests by

subsidiary (Nete 6 3) - - - - - - - - - - (1.787) {1,787)

Other changes i non-controlling nterests - - - - - - - - - . (28) {26)
Cash dividends {Note 24) - - - - - - - - (2,010) {2,010} - {2,010}
Transachons with the owners - - {119} - - - - - (2.010) {2,129} 1,813} {3,942}
Loss for the year - - - - - - - - (12,293) (12,293) {5,471} (17,764)
Other comprehensive loss for the year - - - - - - 2N (26,893} - {26,920) (20,939) (47,859)
Total comprehensive loss for the year - - - - - - {27} {26,2893) (12,293} (39,213) {26,410} {85,623)
Balance as at 31 December 2020 43,193 11,132 {11.922) 756 13,629 15,027 374 68,531 13,590 154,310 106,464 260,774

The notes ser ont on pager 11 fo 38 form an integral part of these consolidated financal statenents.
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Consolidated statement of cash flows

3
o

Year ended Year ended
31 Dec. 31 Dec
Note 2021 2020
KD'000 KD'000
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit!(loss) for the year 13,637 {17,764)
Adjustmenis
Bepreciation and amorlisation 1,816 1,793
Provision for end of service indemnity 243 160
Change i fair value of investment properties 302 3,039
impairment In value of trading properties under development - 4,500
Impairment in value of investments in assoclates - 4,662
(3z2in on sale of frading properties {1,040) -
Dividends income from investments at FVOC! (3,202) {10,485)
Reversal of provisions no longer required - (417)
Interest income {17) {127)
ECL prowvisions - ne} 165 600
Impairment of fixed assefs - 7
Loss on disposal of fixed assets - 35
Share of resulls of associates {7,409) 7,403
Loss m currency difference from non-operating assets and habilities (48) -
Finance costs 8,763 8,160
11,210 1,566
Changes In operating assets and Habilities;
Accounts receivable and other debit balances {3,460) 6,218
Accounts payable and other credit balances {5,433} {2,566)
Refundable rental deposiis {91) (445)
Employees’ end of service Indemnity paid {62) (87)
Net cash from operating activities 2,174 4,686
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from sale of investments at far value through other comprehansive
income 1,159 -
Paid lo purchase Investments at falr value through other comprehensive Income (3) -
Proceeds from sale of frading properties 17,227 -
Pald to acquire additional share of associates (12} (255)
Additions to Investment properties (802} (3,539)
Additions to Invesiment property under development {178) -
Additions to trading propertles under development (2,204) {1,341)
Additions to other assels and intangible assets (2,336) (3,302)
Dividends income receved 3,202 10,485
Dividends income recelved from assoctates - 1,568
interest fncoene received 17 127
Net cash from investing activitles 16,073 3,743
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Change 1n nan-controlling interests due lo increase in share capital by a subsidiary 551 -
Cash dividends paid to shareholders (70} {1,994)
Cash dividends paid to hon-contrelling interests by subsidiary - {1,787)
Net change i treasury shares {4) {119)
Change in due to banks {4,096} 7.202
Change in term loans {6,672) {3,125)
Finance costs paid (6,565) {9,628)
Net cash used in financing activities (18,8586) {9,451)
Net increase! (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 1,391 (1,022}
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 25 31,278 32,268
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 25 32,6687 31,276

The wotes set ot on pages 11 to 58 form an intgoral part of these convolidated finanmal statements,
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

1 Incorporation and activities of the Parent Company

Tamdeen Real Estate Company — KPSC (the “Patent Company™) was incotpotated i Kuwait on 16 December
1982 in accordance with the Companies Law. The Patent Company along with its subsidiantes ate jontly
teferred to as “the Group”. The Parent Company’s shares are ttaded on the Kuwait Stock Exchange

"Fhe principal activities of the Parent Company are represented in the real estate investments inside and cutside
the State of Kuwait, for the purposes of ownership, resale, leasing and renting. The Patent Company 15 also
engaged in the development of real estate projects and construction contracts of buildings, managing the
ptopetties of others, establishing and managing real estate investment funds, real estate studies and consultancy,
and investing 1n compantes with activities simiar to its own and exploiting the financal suipluses avalable at
the Patent Company through its mvestment in financial portfolios managed by professional companies and
authorities,

‘The address of the Parent Company: PO Box 21816, Safat 13079, State of Kuwart,

‘The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2021 were authotised for issue by the
Parent Company’s board of directors on 16 March 2022 and are subject to the appioval of the general assembly

of the shareholdets.

2 Statement of compliance

‘These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the International Financial
Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) promulgated by the International Accounting Standards Board (*IASB”), and
Interpretations issued by the Interpational Financial Reporting Interpretations Commuttee (“IFRIC™) of the
(TASB),

3 Changes in accounting policies

31 New and amended standards adopted by the Group
No new adjustments ot ctiteia have been made to the current consolidated financial statement period except

[or the extension of the IFRS 16 adjustment as described below,

Amendment to IFRS 16 - COVID-1%-related lease concessions after June 30, 2021

An extenston has been made to June 30, 2022 for amendments to IFRS 16 - COVID-19 related lease
concesstons. The practical means allows the lessee to opt out of an cvaluation to determine whether the
COVID-19 related lease concessions constitute an amendment to the lease The lessee is allowed to account
for the lease liens as if the change were not an amendment to the lease,

The application of the amendments did not have a significant unmpact on the Group’s consolidated financal
statements,

32 IASB Standards issued but not yet effective

At the date of authotisation of these consolidated financtal statements, ceLtain new standards, amendments and
interpretations (o existing standards have been published by the TASB but are not yet effective, and have not
been adopted eatly by the Group,

Management anticipates that all of the relevant pionouncements will be adopted 1n the Group’s accounting
policies for the first period beginning after the effecuve date of the pronouncements. Information on new
standards, amendments and intetpretattons that are expected to be relevant to the Group’s consobdated
financtal statements is provided below. Certain other new standards and interpretations have been tssued but
are not expected to have a matetial impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements,

e
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

3 Changes in accounting policies (continued)

3.2 IASB Standards issued but not yet effective (continued)

Standard or Interpretatien Eiffeative for annsal periods beginning
IFRS 10 and IAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investot No stated date

and 1ts Associate or Joint Venture - Amendrments

IAS 1 — Amendments — Classification of cuirent or non-cutient 1 January 2023

IAS 1 Amendments- Disclosute of accounting polictes 1 January 2023

Annual Improvements 2018-2020 Cycle 1 Jamuary 2022

IFRS 10 and IAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture - Amendments
The Amendments to IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements and TAS 28 Investments 1 Assoctates and
Joint Ventutes (2011) clatify the weatiment of the sale or contribution of assets fiom an investor to its associate
ot joint venture, as follows:
¢ requure full recognition in the investor's financial statements of gains and losses attsing on the sale or
contribution of assets that constitute a business (as defined ia IFRS 3 Business Combinations)
*  requue the partial recognition of gains and losses where the assets do not constitute a bustness, f.e. a
gain or loss is recognised only to the extent of the unrelated investors’ mterests in that associate ot
joint ventre.

These requitements apply regardless of the legal form of the transaction, e.g whether the sale or contribution
of assets occurs by an mvestor transferring shaves in a subsidiary that holds the assets {resulting in loss of
control of the subsidiaty), or by the ditect sale of the assets themselves,

IASB has postponed the effective date indefinutely until other projects are completed. However, catly
implementation is allowed. Management anticipates that the applicaton of these amendments may have an
impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements in future should such transactions arise.

IAS 1 Amendments - Classification of current ot non-current

The amendments to LAS 1 clarify the classification of a liability as eithet curtent or non-current 1s based on the
entity’s tights at the end of the reporting period. Stating management expectatons atound whether they will
defer settfernent ot not does not wnpact the classification of the liability. It has added guidance about lending
conditions and how these can impact classtfication and has included requitements for Habilities that can be
settled using an entity’s own instruments,

Management does not anticipate that the adoption of the amendments in the future will have a significant
impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements,

1IAS 1 Amendments — Disclosure of accounting policies

The amendments to IAS | require entities to disclose matenal accountng policies mstead of significant
accounting polictes. The amendments clarify that accounting policy information may be matettal because of
its nature, even if the related amounts are immaterial,

Management does not anticipate that the adoption of the amendments m the future will have a significant
impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements,
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

3 Changes in accounting policies (continued)
3.2 {ASB Standards issued but not yet effective (continued)
Annual Improvements 2018-2020 Cycle

Amendment to TFRS 9 relates to the ‘10 per cent’ Test for Perecogninon of Financial Liabidities — In
determining whether to detecognise a financial liability that has been modified ot exchanged, an entity assesses
whether the terms are substantially different. The amendment clatifies the fees that an eatity itcludes when
assessing whether the terms of a new ot modified financial hability are substantally different from the terms of
the otiginal financial lability.

Amendment to IFRS 16 avoids the potential for confusion in applying IFRS 16 Leases because of how
IHustrative Example 13 accompanying IFRS 16 had dlustrated the requirements for lease incentives Before the
amendment, Ilustrative Example 13 had included as part of the fact pattern a reimbursement relating to
leasehold improvements; the example had not explained cleatly enough the conclusion as to whethei the
reimbursement would meet the definition of a lease incentive in IFRS 16, The IASB decided to remove the
potenual for confusion by deleung fiom Tlustrative Example 13 the reimbursement relating to leasehold
improvements.

Management does not anticipate that the adoption of the amendments m the future will have a significant
smpact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

4 Significant accounting policies
The significant accounting policies and measurement bases adopted i the preparation of the consolidated

financial statements are summatised below:

4.1 Basis of prepatation

The consolidated financial statements have been presented m Kuwatt Dinar (“KID”), which is the Parent
Company’s functional curtency. They have been piepared under historical cost convention except for
investments at faw value through profit or loss and mvesiments at fair value through other comprehensive
income and investment propeities measured at fair vaiue.

The Group has elected to present the “consolidated statement of prefit or loss and othet comprehensive
income™ in two separate statements: the “consolidated statement of profit or loss” and a “consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income”.

4.2 Basis of consolidation

The Group financial statements consolidate those of the Parent Company and all of its subssdiaries. Substdiaries
ate all entides (iIncluding structured entitics) over which the Group has control. The Group controls an enuty
when the Guoup ts exposed to, or has tights to, vastable returns {rom its involvernent with the entity and has
the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity Subsidsaries are fully consolidated from the
date on which control 15 transferted to the Group and they are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.
All subsidiaries have a reportng date of 31 December,
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

4 Summary of significant accounting policies {continued)

4.2 Basis of consolidation (continued)
The detads of the consolidated subsidsattes are set out in Note (6) to the consolidated financial starements.

All intea-group transactions and balances aie climinated on consalidation, including uniealised gains and losses
on intea-group transactions. Where unrealised losses on intra-group asset sales ate reversed on consolidation,
the undetlying asset is also tested fot impatrment from a Group petspective.

Amounts iepotted in the financial statements of subsidiaries have been adjusted where necessary to ensure
conssstency with the accounting policies adopted by the Group.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control oves the subsidiary and ceases when the
Group loses control of the subsidiary, Profit or loss and other comprehensive mcome of subsidiaries acquired
or disposed of during the year ate recognised from the date the Group gains contiol, or until the date the Group
ceases to control the subsidiaty, as applicable,

Non-controlling interests, presented as part of equity, represent the poruon of a subsidiary’s profit or loss and
net assets that is not held by the Group. The Group attributes total comprehensive income or loss of
subsidiaries between the owners of the parent and the non-controlling intetests based on their respecuve
ownership interests, Losses within a subsidiary are atttibuted to the non-controlling interests even if that results
in a deficit balance.

A change In the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of conticl, 15 accovnted for as an equity
transaction, If the group loses control over a subsidiary, it:

. Derecognizes the assets (including goodwill) and Liabilitics of the subsidiary

’ Derecognizes the cartying amount of any non-controlling interests

) Derecopnizes the cumulative translation differences, recorded 1n equity

U Recogtizes the fair value of the consideration recetved

. Recognizes the fair value of any investment tetaned

. Recoguizes any surplus ot deficit in profit ot loss

. Reclassifies the parent’s share of components previously recognized in other comprehensive income

to profit or loss or relaned earnings, as appropriate, as would be 1equited 1f the Group has direcdy
disposed of the related assets o1 labilities

4.3 Business combinations

‘The Group applies the acquistion method in accounting for business combinations. The consideration
transfecred by the Group to obtain control of a subsidrary 15 calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair
values of assels transferted, habilities mncuried and the equity ntesests issued by the Group, which includes the
fatr value of any asset or ltability arising from a contingent consideration artangement, Acquisidon costs are
expensed as incurred. For each business combmation, the acquirer measures the non-controlling interests n
the acquiree either at fair value o1 at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identsfiable net assets.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the aceuisition date fair value of the acquitet’s previously held
equity intetest In the acquitee is remeasured to fair value at the acqusttion date thiough profit or loss.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

4 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

4.3 Business combinations (continued)

The Group recognises identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a business combination regardless
of whether they have been previously recognised in the acquiree’s financial statements prior to the acquisition.
Assets acquired and habilities assumed are generally measured at theit, acquisition-date Fair values

When the Group acquites a busthess, it assesses the financtal assets and Labilities assumed for appropriate
classification and designation in accotdance with the contractaal terms, economic circumstances and pertinent
conditions as at the acquisition date.

Goodwill 1s stated after sepatate recognition of identifiable intangible assets Itis caleulated as the excess of the
sum of 2} fair value of consideration transfetred, b) the Ltecognised amount of any non-contiolling interest in
the acquitee and €) acquisitton-date fair value of any exisung equity interest in the acquitee, over the acquusttion-
date fair values of rdentifiable net assets. If the fait values of identifiable net assets exceed the sum caleulated
above, the excess amount (le. gain on a batgain purchase) is recognised in profit or loss immediately

4.4 Goodwill
Goodwill represents the futuie economic benefits atsing from a business combination that ate not indewvidually

identified and separately recognised.

4.5 Investient in associates

Associates ate those entities over which the Group 1s able to exert significant mfluence but which are netther
subsidiattes nor joint ventures. Investments in assoctates are instially recognised at cost and subsequently
accounted for using the equity method. Any goodwill or fawr value adjustment attributable to the Group’s shate
in the associate is not recognised separately and is included in the amount recognised as investment in
assoctates.

Undet the equity method, the cariying amount of the investment in assoctates is increased o1 decreased to
recognise the Group’s shate of the profit of loss and other comprehensive income of the associate, adjusted
whete necessary to ensute conststency with the accounting policies of the Group.

Unrealised gains and losses on transactions berween the Group and its associates and joint ventuees are
ehirninated to the extent of the Group®s intetest in those entities, Where uniealtsed losses ave eliminated, the
undetlymng asset 1s also tested {or impairment,

The share of results of an associate is shown in the consolidaled statement of profit or loss.

It represents the profit attributable to equaty holders of the associate and therefore represents profit after tax
and non-controlling interests in the subsidiaries of the associate,

The difference in teporting dates of the assoctates and the Group is not more than three months Adjustments
are made for the effects of significant transactions ot events that occur between that date and the date of the
Group’s consolidated financial statements. The associate’s accounting policies conform to those used by the
Group for like transactions and events in similar circumstances

After application of the equity method, the Group deleumnes whether st 1s necessary to recogntse an additional
unpairment loss on the Group’s investment in sts associate. The Group determines at each teporting date
whether there is any objective evidence that the investment i the associate 15 smparred. 1f this is the case the
Group calculates the amount of impaitment as the difference between the 1ecoverable amount of the associate
and its carrying value and tecognises the amount in the ‘shate of results of an associate’ in the consolidated
statement of profit ot loss.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

4 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

4.5 Investment in associates (continued)

Upon loss of significant influence over the associate, the Group measures and recogniscs any retaming
investment at its farr value, Any differences between the catrying amount of the associate upon loss of
significant influence and the fair value of the remainng invesiment and proceeds from disposal ate tecognised
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Investments 1n associates are non-cuttent assets, unless otherwise provided.

4.6 Segment reporting

The Group has two operating scgments: the 1eal estate and investment segments, Tn sdentifying these operatng
segments, management generally follows the Group’s service lines representing 1ts main products and setvices.
Fach of these operaung segments 1s managed sepatately as each requires different approaches and other
resources. All inter-segment teansfers arve carried out at arm’s length prices,

For management putposes, the Group uses the same measurement policies as those used in ity consolidated
financial statements. In additon, assets or habdities which are not directly attributable to a ceitan operating
segment ale not allocated to the segment.

4.7 Revenue recogaition
'The Group recognises 1evenue from the following major sources:

Rendering of sexvices

Revenue fiom sale of propetties

Rental inncome and other sexvices income from mvestment properties
Providing hotel services

Interest and similat income

Dywvidends income

e« 5 @ * = @°

Revenue is measuted based on the consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in a contract with
a customer and excludes amounts collected on behalf of third parties. The Group recognises revenue when it
transfets control of a product or service to a customer.

The Group follows a 5-siep process:

Identifying the contract with a costomer

Idenufying the performance obligations

Determining the iransaction ptice

Allocating the tiansaction price to the performance obligations
Recognising revenue when/as performance obligation(s) are satisficd

WUT B LN e

The Group often enters into tiansactions involving a range of the Group’s products and services.

In all cases, the total transactton price for 2 contract is allocated amongst the various performance obligations
basced on their relative stand-alone selling prices.

Revenue ts tecognised either at a point in time or over time, when (or as) the Group satisfics performance
obligations by transferting the promised goods or services Lo ts customers.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

4 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

4.7 Revenue recognition (continued)

The Group recognises conteact liabilities for constderation recerved in 1espect of unsatisfied performance
obligations and reports these amounts, if any, as other linbiities 1n the consolidated statement of financial
position. Simdlaly, if the Group satisfies a performance obligation before 1t receives the consideration, the
Group recognises either a contract asset or a receivable, if any, in its consolidated statement of financial
position, depending on whether something other than the passage of time is 1equired before the considetation
1s due.

4.7.1  Remal income
Rental income from sovestment propetties is recognised as stated i nole 4 10.

4.7.2  Services Income
The Group earns revenue from maintenance, advertising and other services. Revenue fiom providing services
is recognsed in the accounting pertod m which the services ate tendered,

4.2.3 Management and consultancy fees

The Group earns fees and commussion income fiom a vasiety of asset management, investment banking,
custody, consultancy and brokerage services provided to its customers. Fees and commission income are
recognised over the period of the service.

4.7.4  Revenue from sale of trading properties

‘The Group develops and sells tesidential apariments, which is part of a residential complex located in Kuwait.
Revenue on sale of these properties is recognised when contiol over the propetty has been transferred to the
customer. Management believes that the enforceable right of payment with regard to this project does not artse
until lepal title of the pioperty is passed to the customer / legal notice 15 served to the customer to take
possession of the propetty. Therefore, revenue is recognised at 2 pont in time when either the legal title is
passed to the customer, or when legal notice 1s setved to the customer to take possession of the property or
when the propetty is handed over to the customet,

4.7.5  Rendering of hotel services

The Group also renders hotel sexvices and revenue from rendering of services is recognised in the accounting
period in which the setvices ate rendered or performed. Room revenue is tecognised on the rooms occupied
on a daily basis. Revenue on food, beverage and other related sales are accounted for at the time of sale

4.7.6  Interest income
Interest income and expenses are reported on an acerual basts using the effective interest rate method.,

4.7.7  Dividend income
Dividend income ate recognised at the time the right to receive payment is established.

4.8  Opetating expenses
Operating expenses are recognised in profit or loss upon uulisaton of the service or at the date of their ongin

4.9 Borrowing costs

Botrowing costs dicectly attributable to the acquisition, construction ot production of a qualifying asset ate
capitalised during the period of time that 1s necessaty to complete and piepare the asset for its intended use or
sale. Other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred and reported in finance costs
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

4 Summary of significant accounting policies {continued)
410 Leased asscts

The Group ar a lessee

For any new contiacts entered into, the Group considers whether a contract is, or contains a lease. A lease 13
defined as ‘a contract, ar patt of a contract, that conveys the right to use an assel {the undetlymng asset) for a
pettod of tume in exchange for consideration’,

To apply tlus definition the Group assesses whether the contract meets thiee key evaluations wluch are whethet,

+  the conttact contains an identfied assel, which is either explicitly identified in the contract ot implicitly
specified by being identified at the time the asset 1s made available to the Giroup

*  the Gioup has the right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from use of the identfied
asset throughout the period of use, considering its rights within the defined scope of the contract

+  the Gioup has the right to direct the use of the identified asset throughout the petiod of use The
Guoup assess whether 1t has the righr to divect how and for what purpose’ the asset 15 used throughout
the period of use

The Group has clected to account for short-term leases and leases of low-value assets using the practcal
expedients, Instead of recognising a night-of-use asset and lease liability, the payments in relation 1o these are
recognised as an expensc in profit or loss on a straight-line basts over the lease term.

Measirement and recagnition of leases as a kisee
At lease commencement date, the Group tecognises a night-of-use asset and a lease liabthity on the balance sheet

measuted as follows:

Right-of-use avset

The right-of-use asset is measured at cost, which 1s made up of the imittal measurement of the lease liability, any
initial direct costs incurred by the Group, an estinate of any costs to dismantle and remove the asset at the end
of the lease, and any lease payments made in advance of the lease commencerment date (net of any incentives
received)

Subsequent to initial measuiement, the Group deprectates the right-of-use assets (which are not classified as
investment properties) on 4 straight-line basis fiom the lease commencement date to the eatlier of the end of
the useful Iife of the right-of-use asset or the end of the lease teun. The Group also asscsses the right-of-use
asset for impaitment when such mdicators exist.

Subsequent to imtial measurement, the Group accounts for certain of its right-of-use assets as investment
propetties catrled at fawr value, These values are supported by market evidence and are determuned by extertial
professtonal valuets with sufficient cxpertence with respect to both the location and the natute of the
nvestment propesrty. Any gain ot loss tesulting from etther a change in the fair value 15 tmmediately Lecognised
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss

Lease liability

At the commencement date, the Group measutes the lease liability at the present value of the lease payments
unpaid at that date, discounted using the interest 1ate tmplctt in the lease if that rate is readily available or the
Group’s incremental borrowing rate.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
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5 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
410  Leases (continued)

Lease habilty fionttnned)

Lease payments included 11 the measurement of the lease lability are made up of fixed payments (including in
substance fixed), vartable payments based on an index or tate, amounts expected to be payable under a residual
value guarantee and payments azising from options teasonably certain to be exercised

Subsequent to initial measuiement, the Hability is 1educed for payments made and increased for interest. It is
remeasuted to teflect any reassessment or modification, or if there are changes in in-substance fixed payments.
When the lease liabiltty is remeasured, the corresponding adjustment s reflected in the pght-of-use assct, or
profit and loss if the right-of-use asset is alteady 1educed to zero.

The Group ay 4 essor

The Group entets tto lease agreements as a lessor with respect to some of its investment pioperties The
Gioup classifies 1ts feases as etther operating or finance leases. When the terms of a lease transfer substandally
all the risks and rewards of ownership to the lessec, the contract 1s classified as finance lease. All other leases
ate classified as operating leases,

When the Group 1s an intetmediate lessor, it accounts for the head-fease and sub-lease as two sepatate contacts
The sub-lease is classified as finance lease or operating lease by reference to the 1ight-of-use of asset atising
from the head-lcase,

Rental income from operatng leases 15 tecognised on a straight-line basis over lease teum. Inittal direct cost
incurred in arranging and negotiating 4 lease are added to the carrying amount of the lease assets and Lecognised
on a steatght line basis over the lease rerm.

Amounts due under finance leases are recognised as recervables Fiance lease income is allocated to the
accounting petiods 50 as 1o reflect a constant periodic rate of return on the Group’s net investment outstanding
for the finance lease.

411  Propetty, plant and equipment

Propetty, plant and equipment are initially recognised at acquisition cost or manufacturing cost, including any
costs directly attributable to bringing the assets to the location and condition necessary for 1t to be capable of
opetating in the manner mtended by the Group’s managetment.

Property, plant and equipment are subsequently measuied using the cost medel, cost less subsequent
depreciation and impairment losses, Depreciation is recognised on a straight-line basis to write down the cost
fess estimated restdual value of property, plant and equipment. The useful life and deprectation method are
reviewed pertodically to cnsute that the method and period of depreciation are consistent with the expected
pattern of economic benefits arssing from stems of pioperty, plant and equipment.

The followmng annual rates ave apphied.

*» Machines and equipment 20% to 33.33%
¢ Vehicles 20% to 25%
* Pututure, fixtures and office equipment 5% to 33.33%

In the case of leaschold propetty, expected useful hives are determined by reference to comparable owned assets
ar over the term of the leasc, if shorter.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

4 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

4.11  Property, plant and equipment (continued)
Matetial residual value esumates and estimates of useful life are updated as 1equired, but at least annually.

When assets are sold or 1etired, then cost and accumulated depreciation are eliminated from the accounts and
any gain ot loss vesultng from thes disposal is recognised m the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

412  Intangible assets

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that ate acquired sepacately are carrted at cost less accumulated
amottisation and accumulated impairment losses.

‘I'he estimated usehul life and amortisation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting pertod. Changes
in estimates ate accounted for as at the begtnning of the financial year in which the changes have been occurred
Intangible assets with mdefinite useful lives that ate acquired separately are carried at cost less accumulated
impairment losses.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no future economic benefits are expected from use or
disposal. Gamns o1 losses arising from derecognition are measured as the differcnce between the net disposal
proceeds and the cartying amount of the asset and recognised 1 the consolidated statement of profit ot loss.

413  Investment propertics
Investment properies arc propetties held to eatn rentals and/o1 fot capital appreciation, and are accounted for
using the fair vajue model,

Investment properties ate initially measured at cost. Subsequently, investment propetties ate revalued annually
and ate included in the consolidated statement of financial position at thewr fair values. These values supported
by matket evidence and ate determined by external professional valuers with suffictent experience with respect
to both the location and the nature of the investment property or are determined by the management of the
Group based o their knowledge of the propetty.

Any gan ot loss resulting from either a change in the fair value or the sale of an Investment property 1s
immediately recognised in profit o1 loss within “change m fair value of investment property”.

Transfers are made to or from mvestment property only when there is a change in use. For 4 transfer from
investmment property to owner-occupied propezty, the deemed cost for subsequent accounting is the fair value
at the date of change in use. 1f owner-occupied propetty becomes an investment property, the Group accounts
for such property in accordance with the policy stated under propetty, plant and equipment up to the date of
change 1n use.

434  Investment properties under development

Investment properties under development represent property held for futute use as invesement property and
is tmtially measured at cost Subsequently, propetties under development ate carrfed at fair value that 1s
determined based on valuation petformed by independent valuers at the end of each year using valuauon
methods conststent with the market conditions at the reporting date Gains or losses from change in the fur
value are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

If the Group determines that the fair value of an mvestment property under development 15 not reliably
determinable but expects the fair value of the property to he rehably determinable when construction is
complete, the Group measutes that investment property under development at cost untd exther its fait value
becomes reliably detesrninable or development Is completed (whichever 1s eamlier).

I
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

4 Significant accounting policies (continued)

4,15  Trading propertics under development

Tiading propeities unde: development 1epsesent tading lands and propeitees under development/ construction,
which ate stated at the lower of cost ot net realizable value. ‘The costs include both the cost of land and construction
and arclutectural design, Advances fot the purchase of properties and related costs such as professional fees, project
management fees and project engincering costs are added when petforming the activities necessary to make the
assets 1eady for theii intended use, Direct costs are added to the trading propertes undet development account from
the fist day of the project until its completion. The project’s completion is defined when a ecrtificate of completion
1s issued, or when management considets the project to be completed. Net realisable value is estimated at selling
[price 1 the ordinary course of business less the estimated cost of completion and the estimaled cost necessary
to realize the sale Upon completion, unsold propetties under development, 1f any, are reclassified as t1ading
propetties,

416  Trading properties

Trading ptopeitics ate stated at the lower of cost or net realisable value. Costs ave those expenses tncurred tn
bringing each property to its present condition including identifiable finance costs. Net reakisable value 1s based
on estimated selling piice less any Further costs expected to be mncurred on completion and disposal,

417  Impaitment testing of goodwill and non-financial assets

For impairment assessment purposes, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are largely
independent cash inflows (cash generating units) As a result, some assets are tested individually {o1 impaitment
and some are tested at cash-penerating unit level Goodwill is allocated to those cash-gencaating units that are
expected to benefit fiom synergies of the related business combination and represent the lowest level within
the Group at which management monitors goodwill,

Cash-genetating units to which goodwill has been allocated (determined by the Group’s management as
equivalent to its operating segments) ate tested for impairment at least annually. All other individual assets ot
cash-generating units ate tested for impairment whenever events or changes i arcumstances indicate that the
catrying amount may not be recoverable.

An impatrment Joss 1s recogoised for the amount by which the asset’s ot cash-generating unit’s cartying amount
exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value-in-use To determine
the value-in-use, management estimates expected future cash flows fiom the asset or each cash-generating unit
and determines a suitable interest rate in otder to calculate the present value of those cash flows. The data used
for impairment testing procedures are directly linked to the Group’s latest approved budget, adjusted as
necessary to exclude the effects of future reorgamsations and asset enhancements.

Discount factors are determined individually for each asset or cash-generating unit and reflect management’s
assessment of respective risk profiles, such as market and asset-specific risks factors.

Impairment losses for cash-generating units reduce first the cartying amount of any goodwill allocated to that
cash-generating unit. Any remaming impairment loss is charged pro tata to the other assets m the cash-
generating umt. With the cxception of goodwill, all assets are subsequently reassessed for indications that an
impairment loss previously recognised may no longer exst. An impaument charge 15 reversed if the cash-
generating uni’s recoverable amount exceeds its cartying amount.

LI
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

4 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
418  Fnancial instruments

4.18.1 Recognition, initial measurement and detrecognition

Financial assets and financial babidittes ate recognised when the Group becomes a patty to the contractual
provisions of the financial instriument and ate measuted initially at fair value adjusted by disectly attibutable
transactions costs, except for those carried at fair value through profit or loss which aie measued intially at
fair value. Subsequent measurement of financial assets and financial Mabilities ate descubed below,

A financial asset (or, where applicable a part of financial asset ot pait of group of similar financial assets) 15
primatily derecognised when:

* rights to recetve cash flows from the assets have expired;

* the Group has transferred its 1ights to 1cceive cash flows from the asset o1 has assumed an obligation lo
pay the recerved cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass through® atrangement
and erther,

(8) the Group has transfeired substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset o1
{b) the Group has netther transferted nor retained substantially all 1isks and rewards of the asset but has
transterred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferted its tights to recetve cash flows from an asset or has entered mto a pass-
through aitangement, it evaluates if and to what extent it has retamed the tisks and rewards of ownership
Whet it has neither transferred not retained substantially all the tisks and rewards of the asset, nor transfevted

control of the asset, the Group continues to tecognise the transfeired asset to the extent of the Group’s
continuing involvement, In that case, the Group also recognises an associated lability, The transfeired asset
and the associated lability ate measuted on 4 basis that 1eflects the tights and obligations that the Group has
retained.

A financial liability 1s detecognised when the obligation undet the liability 1 discharged ot cancelled or expirtes.
When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lendet on substanually different terims,
or the terms of an exisung Hability a1 substantally modified, such an exchange or modification 1s treated as a
derecognition of the original hability and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the respective
cartying amounts is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

4.18.2 Classification of financial assets
For the putpose of subsequent measurement, financial assets are classified mto the following categoties upon
inttial recognition:

* financial assets at amortised cost
* financial assets at fair value through Other Compiehensive Income (FYOCI)
* financial assets at fawr value through profit or loss (FVTPL)

The classification s determined by both:

* the entity’s bustness model for managing the financral asset
* the contiactual cash flow charactadstics of the financial asset.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

4 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
418  Financial instruments (continued)

4.18.2 Classification of financial assets (continued)
The Group may make the following itrevocable election/designation at initial recognision of a financial asset:

* the Gioup may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in faie value of an equity investment i other
comptrehensive income if certain criterm are meg and

* the Group may trevocably designate a debt investment that meets the amortised cost o1 FVOCI crtteria as
measured at FVTPL if domg so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch, In the pettod
presented no such designation has been made.

4.18.3 Subsequent measurement of financial assets

. Financial assets ar amortised cost
Financial assets are measured at amottiscd cost if the assets meet the following conditions (and are not

designated as FVTPL):

* they are held withinn a business model whose objectuve is to hold the financial assets and collect its conteactual
cash flows

* the contiactual texms of the financial assets give rise to cash flows that ate solely payments of prineypal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding

After inuteal recognition, these ate measured at amot tised cost using the effective mterest rate method, less
provision for impawrment. Discounting ts omitted where the effect of discounting is immatetial.

"T'he Group’s financial assets at amortised cost compiise of the following'

& Cash and carb equnalents
Cash and cash equivalents compuise cash on hand and shott-term deposits, which ate subject to an insignificant

usk of changes in value,

o Acounty receivable and other financial assets
Accounts teceivable are stated at original invoice amounts less allowance for any impairment.

Financial assets at amortsed costs, whech are not categorsed under any of the above are classified as “Accounts
receivable and other debit balances”.

» Financial assets at FVOCT
The Group’s financial assets at FVOCI comprise of the following'

= Investment in egunty shares: These represent investments i equity shates of vatious companies and iclude both
quoted and unquoted.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

4 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
418  Financial insttuments (continued)
4.18.3 Subsequent measurement of financial assets (contined)

Debi instrnments at FY7OCT
The Group accounts for debt instruments at FEVOCI if the assets meet the following condittons:
¢ they are held under 2 business model whose objective it 1s “hold to collect” the associated cash flows and sell;

and

* the contractual terms of the financial assets give rise to cash flows that ate solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount owmstanding,

Any gains or losses recognised in other comprehensive income (OCI) will be recycled to the consolidated
statement of profit ot loss upon derecognition of the asset. The Group does not hold any such debt instiuments
as of the reporting date.

Eguty nstrnments at F1VOCI

On initial recognition, the Group may make an urevocable election (on an instrument-by-instrument basis) Lo
designate investments i equuty instiuments as at FVOCL Designation at FVOCI 1s not permitted if the equity
investment is held for teading or if it is contingent consideration tecognised by an acquirer in a bustness

combination.

A financial asset is held for tading 1f:
* it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling it in the neat term; or

* on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identified financial mstruments that the Group manages
together and has evidence of a tecent actual pattern of short-teum profit taking; or

* it is a dettvative (except for a detivative that is a financial guatantee contract or a designated and effective
hedging mstrument).

Investments in cquity instruments at FVOCT ate initially measuted at fair value plus transaction costs.

Subsequently these assets are measured at fait value. Dividend on these investments in cquity instiuments are
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. Al othet gamns and losses are recognised in other
comprchensive income (accumulated fair value reserve) and ate never reclassified to profit o1 loss Transfers
of reabised gains on disposal within components of equity (to retained eacnings) are done based on management
discretion.

. Financial assets at FVIPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for measutement at amottised cost or FYOCI arc categorised at
Fatr value through profit and loss. Further, irrespective of business model, financial assets whose contractual
cash flows ace not solely payments of ptincipal and interest are accounted for at FVTPL. All derivative financial
mstruments fall mto this category, except for those designated and effective as hedging instruments, for which
the hedge accounting requirements apply. The category also contamns mvestments in equity shares.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

4 Summary of significant accounting policies {continued)
418  Financial instruments {continued)
4.18.3 Subsequent measurement of financial assets (continued)

. Financial assets at FVTPL (continued)

Assets in this category are measused at fanr value with gaing o1 losses recognised 1n consolidated statement of
profil or loss, The far values of financial assets in this categoty ate detetmined by 1eference to active matket
transactons or using a valuation technique where no active market exists,

‘I'he Group does not hold any financial assets at FVTPL as of the reporung date.

4.18.4 Impairment of financial assets

All financial assets except for those at FVTPI, and Equity instruments at FVOCI ate subject to review for
wnpatement at least at each reporing date to identify whether there is any objective evidence that a financial
asset or a Group of (inancial assets is impaired. Different criteria to deteimine impairment are applied for each
categoty of financial assets, which ate described below.

The Group tecognises a loss allowance fo1 expected credit losses (*ECI”) on financial assets at amottised cost
or at FVOCL

For: financial assets, the expected credit loss is estmated as the difference between all contractual cash flows
that are due to the Group in accordance with the contract and all the cash Jows that the Group expects to
receive, The amount of expected credit losses is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk
since initial recognitions of the respective financial asset,

The measurement of expected credit losses is a function of the probability of default, loss given default {le. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment of the probability of
default and loss given default is based on historical data adjusted by forward looking information as described
above. As for the exposure at defauly, for financial assets, this is represented by the assets’ gross cavtying amount
at the reporting date.

The Gioup always recognises ifetime ECIL for trade 1eceivables and amounts due from related parties. The
expected credit losses on these financial assets are estimated using a proviston mattix based on the Group’s
histoical credit loss expetience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic
conditions and an assessment of hoth the current as well as the forecast direction of condittons at the reporting
date, mcluding time value of money where appropiiate,

For all other financial insttuments, the Group recognises lifetime TCL when there has been a significant
increase in credit cisk sice initial recognition, However, 1f the credit tisk on the financial mstrument has not
ncreased sigmficantly since initial recognitton, the Group measutes the loss allowance for that financial
insttument at an amount equal to 12-month ECL.

Lifetime ECL represents the expected credit losses that will result from all possible default evenls over the
expected life of a financial instrument. Tn conteast, 12 month ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL that
13 expected to result from default events on a financeal instrument that are possible within 12 months after the
tepotting date,

e ek e fa




Taradnon Rool Butely Sonpany - OG0 e
and Suhsidiaties

Couwstrigaiad Financiy] Stedomems

1 Becenidior 2021

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

4 Summary of significant accounting policies {continued)
4.18  Financial instruments (continued)

4.18.4 Impaitment of financial assets (continued)

The Group recogntses an impanment gain or loss in the consolidated statement of profit o1 loss for all financial
assets with a cotresponding adjustment to thetr cartrying amount through a loss allowance account, except for
investments in debt tnstruments that are measured at FVOCIL, for which the loss allowance is recognsed in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in the fair value reserve, and does not reduce the catrying
amount of the financial asset in the statement of financial position.

If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a financial instrurnent at an amount equal to hfetime ECL in
the previous 1epotting pertod, but determines at the current repoiling date that the conditions fot Iifetime ECL
ate no longer met, the Group measures the loss allowance at an amount equal to 12-month LCL at the cuttent
reporting date, except fot assets for which simplified apptoach was used.

4.18.5 Classification and subsequent measurement of financial Fabilities
The Group’s financial Eabihities mclude terms loans, due to banks, accounts payable and other credit balances

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilitics depends on their classification as follows (the Group does
not have any financial labilittes classificd as al fair value through prolit or loss):

»  Financial lizbilities at amortised cost
These ate stated at amortised cost using effective interest rate method. The Group categorises Gnancial habilities

at amortised cost into the following categortes:

s Borowings (terms loans and due to banki)

Term loans are catiied on the date of the consolidated statement of financial posttion at thetr psncipal amounts.
Interest is chatged as an expense as 1t accrues, with unpaid interest inchided in the creditors’ balances All
botrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. Gams and
losses ate recognised in the consolidated statement of profit ot loss when the liabilities ate derecognised as well
as through the effective intetest sate method (BIR) amottisation process.

s [Phkala payables
Walkala payables represent shotit-term boirowings under Islamic finance arrangements, whereby the Group
teceives funds for the purpose of financing its investment activities and age stated at amortised cost.

& Murabaha finance payables
Murabaha finance payables 1epresent amounts payable on a deferted settlement basts for assets purchased

under murabaha arrangements. Murabaha finanice payables are stated at the gross amount of the payable, net of
deferted finance cost. Deferied finance cost is expensed on a tume appoitionment basts taking mto account the
borrowing rate attributable and the balance outstanding

o Refundable rental deposite
The refundable rental deposits represent amounts recetved from tenants in accordance to the signed Lental

contracts and will be refunded upon expiry of such contracts,

& Acconnts payables and other financal fiabilities

Liabilitses are tecognised for amounts to be paid in the {uture for goods or services received, whether billed by
the supplier ot not, and classified as trade payables. Financial liabilities other than at FVTPL which are not
categortsed unidet any of the above are classified as “Other financial kabihties”.

All interest-related chatges and, if applicable, changes in an mstrument’s fair value that are repozted in profit ot
loss, ate included within finance costs ol finatice income.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

4 Significant accounting policies (continued)

4.19  Amortised cost of financial instruments

This 1s computed using the effective intetest method less any allowance for impatrment. ‘Lhe caleulation takes
into account any premium ot discount on acquisttion and includes transaction costs and fees that are an integral
part of the effective interest rate.

4.20  Offsetting of fnancial instruments

Pinancial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amound repotted in the consolidated statement of
financial position 1f, theve is a cutrently enforceable legal right to offsct the recognised amounts and thete 1s an
intention to settle on a net basts, or to realise the assets and settle the habilitics simultancously.

421  Fair value of financial Instruments

The fair value of financial mstraments that are traded 1 active matkets at cach reporting date 15 deterimined by
reference to quoted matlket prices or dealer price quotatons (bid price for long positions and ask price for shott
positions), without any deduction for transaction costs,

For financial instruments not traded 1n an active macket, the Fair value is determined using appiopriate valuation
techniques. Such techniques may include usiing tecent atm’s length market transactions; reference to the cutrent
fair value of another mstrument that is substantially the same; a discounted cash fAow analysis or other valuation
models

An analysis of fair values of financial insttuments and further details as to how they ate measused are provided
in Note 30.

4,22 Equity, reserves and dividend payments
Share capital represents the nominal value of shares that have been 1ssued and paid up.

Share premium includes any premiums received on issue of share capstal. Any transaction costs assoctated with
the sssuing of shares are deducted from share premusm.

Statutory and voluntary reserves comprise appropriations of current and ptior period profits in accordance with
the requitements of the commercial companies’ law and the Parent Company’s articles of association

Othet components of equity include the followmg:

+  Foreign currency translation resetve — compiises foreign curtency translation differences atlsing from the
tianslation of financial statements of the Group’s foreign entities into I
+  Paw value reserve ~ comprises gains and losses relating to FVOCT mvestment,

Retained earnungs melude all current and prior peniod retained profits. All rransactions with ownets of the
Parent are 1ecorded separately within equity

Dividend distributions payable to equity shareholders ate included in other liabilities when the dividends have
been apptroved in a general assembly meeting,

4.23  Treasury shares

Treasury shares consist of the Pavent Company’s own issued shares that have been reacquited by the Group
and not yet reissued or cancelled. The treasury shates are accounted for using the cost method, Under this
method, the weighted average cost of the shares teacquired 15 chatged to a contia account 1a equity.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

4 Summary of significant accounting policies {continued)

423 Treasuty shares (continued)

When the treasury shares ate reissued, gains are credited to a separale account in equity, (the “gan on sale of
treasury shares reserve”), which is not distributable, Any realised losses ave charged to the same account to the
extent of the credit balance on that account. Any cxcess losses are chatged to retained earnings then to the
voluntary reserve and statutory reserve, No cash dividends are paid on these shares The issue of stock dividend
shares increases the number of treasuty shares propostionately and reduces the average cost pex share without
affecting the total cost of treasury shares.

4.24  Provisions, contingent assets and contingent liabilitics

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past
event, it s probable that an outflow of economic resources will be requited from the Group and amounts can
be esumated reliably, Timing or amount of the outflow may still be uncertain.

Provisions are measuted at the estimated expenditure required to settle the present obligation, based on the
most reliable evidence avalable at the reporung date, inchuding the tisks and uncettainties associzted with the
present obligation, Where there are a number of sumilat obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be
tequtred in settlement is deternuned by constdering the class of obligations as a whole Provisions ate
discounted to their present values, where the time value of money 15 material

In certain instances, the Gioup is tequited to peiform mamntenance and restore properties to agieed
specifications. Provisions for such cost are tecognised based on terms of the contracts,

Contingent assets are not recoghised in the consolidated financial statements, but are disclosed when an inflow
of economic benefits is probable.

Contingent liabilities are not tecognised in the consolidated statement of financial position, but are disclosed
unless the possibility of an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is temote.

4.25  FPoreign curtency translation

4.25,1 Functlonal and presentation curtency
The consolidated financial statements ate presented in Kuwait Dinar (KD), wluch 1s also the functional

currency of the Group.

4.25.2 Foreign currency transactions and balances

Foreign cuttency transactions ate translated into the functional currency of the Patent Company, using the
exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the ttansactions (spot exchange tate). Foreign exchange gains and
losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the remeasurement of monetaty items
denominated 1n foreign currency at year-end exchange rates are recogiused i profit or loss Non-monetary
iterns ate not retranslated at yeat-end and ate measured at hustosical cost {anslated using the exchange rates at
thie eransaction date), except for nop-monetary items measured at fair value which are translated using the
exchange 1ates at the date when fait value was detetmined Translation difference on non-monetaty assets
classified as, “fair value thtough profit or loss” is teported as patt of the fate value gain or loss in the consolidated
statement of profit ot loss and “investments at fais value thiough OCI” are repotted as past of the cumulative
change i fare value within othet comprehensive income,
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

4 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

4.25  Forcign currency translation (continued)

4.253 Foreign operations

Ta the Group's financial statements, all assets, habilities and transactions of Group enuties with 2 functional
curtency other than the KD are translated inte KI7 upon consolidation. The functional curtency of the Group's
entitics has remained unchanged during the tepotting petiod

On consolidation, assets and liabilities have been ranslated into KD at the closing rate at the reporting date,
Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity have been treated as assets
and lnabilities of the foteign entity and tanslated into KID at the closing 1ate. Income and expenses have been
translated tnto KD at the avetage tate over the reporting period. Exchange differences ave charged/ credited to
other comprehensive income and recognised 1n the foreign currency tianslatton teserve in equity On disposal
of a foteign operation, the related cumulatve translation differences recognised mn equity are reclassified to
profit or loss and are recognised as part of the gain or loss on disposal

426 End of service indemnity

The Group provides end of service benefits to its employees. The entitlement to these benefits is based upon the
employees’ final salary and length of service, subject to the completion of 2 minimum service petiodin accordance
with Lelevant labour law and the employecs’ contracts. The expected costs of these benefits are accrued over the
period of empioyment. This liability, which 1s unfunded, repiesents the amount payable to each employee as a
result of termination on the reporting date,

With respect to its Kuwaiti national employees, the Group tnakes contuibutions to the Public Institution for Social
Securdty calculated a5 a percentage of the employees’ salattes. The Parent Company’s obligations are ktnuted to
these contributions, which ate expensed when due.

427  Related party transactions

Related pacties consist of Major shareholdets, subsidiaties, associates, company directors, executive officets,
their close family members and companies of which they ate principal ownets, All related party tansacuons
are approved by management,

4,28  Taxation

4.28.1 National Labour Suppore Tax (NLST)
NLST is calculated 1n accordance with Law No, 19 of 2000 and the IQuwat Ministty of Finance Resoluttons
No. 24 of 2006 at 2 5% of taxable profit of the Group. As pet law, allowable deductions include, cash dividends
from listed companies which are subject to NLST.

4.28.2 Kuwait Foundation for the Advancement of Sciences (KFAS)

The contuibution to KFAS is calculated at 1% of taxable profit of the Group atnibutable to the Patent
Company's ownets 10 accordance with the modified calculation based on the Foundation’s Board of Directors’
1esolution, which states that revenues from the 2ssociates and subsidiaries, board of directors’ temuneration
and transfer to statutory reserve should be excluded from piofit for the year when determining the contribution.

Accumulated losses brought forwaid can be deducted from the adjusted profit for the year when calculating
the ICFAS contribution fos the year.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

4 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

428  Taxation (continued)

4.28.3 Zakar
Contetbution to Zakat is caleulated at 1% of the profit of the Group in accordance with the Kuwait Mintstty
of Finance resolution No. 58/2007 cffective from 10 December 2007

Under the NLST and Zakal regulations, no carry (orward of losses to the future years nor any carry back to
ptior yeais 15 permitted.,

4,29  Fiduciary assets
Assets held in trust or in a fiductary capacity ate not tieated as zsscls of the Group and accordingly are not
included in these consolidated financial statements.

430  Government grants
Govewnment grants are recoghused where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be recewved, and all
attached conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income
oft a systematic hasis over the periods that the related costs, for which 1t 15 intended 10 compensate, ate
cxpensed When the geant relates to an asset, it is recogmsed as income in equal amounts ovee the expected
useful bife of the relaled asset.

When the Group receives grants of non-monetary assets, the asset and the giant are recorded at nommal
amounts and released to profit or loss over the expected usefud life of the asset, based on the pattern of
consumption of the benefits of the underlying asser by equal annual instalments

To mitigate the impact of the COVID-19 pandemuc, the Government of Kuwatt has introduced measures to
aid private entities in response to the pandemic. These measures include government assistance made 1n respect
of cligible staff costs in the private sector.

5 Significant management judgments and estimation uncertainty

The prepatation of the Group’s consolidated financial staternents requires management to make judgments,
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amount of tevenues, expenses, assets and liabilities and the
disclosure of conungent babulstics, at the end of the reporting period. However, uncertamty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that require a material adjustment to the caurying amount
of the asset or liability affected 1n future periods, Purthermore, note 34 discusses the impact of COVID-19 on
preparation of the consolidated financial statements,

51 Significant management judgments
In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the lollowing significant
judgments, which have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised 1o the consolidated financial

statements:

5.1,1  Business model assessment

The Group classifies financial assets after perfortning the business model test (please see accounting policy for
financial insttuments sections in note 4.18}, This test mcludes judgement reflecting all relevant evidence
including how the performance of the assets is evalvated and thetr performance measured and the risks that
affect the performance of the assets, Monitoring 1s part of the Group’s continuous assessment of whether the
business model for which the remaining financtal assets are held continues to be appropriate and if 1t 13 not
appropuiate whether there has been a change 1 business model and so a prospective change to the dassification
of those assets.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

8 Significant management judgments and estimation uncertainty
(continued)
5.1 Significant management judgments {(continued)

5.1.2 Control assessment

When determining control, management constders whethet the Group has the practical ability to duect the
relevant actvities of an mnvestee on 1ts own to generate returns for itself, The assessment of relovant activities
and abiity to use its power to affect vatmble 1eturn 1equites considerable judgement

513 Revenuce recognition

Revenue is measured based on the consideration which the Group expects to he entttled in a contract and 15
tecognised when it tiansfers control of a product ot setvice to a customer The determination of whether the
tevenue recogmtion criteria as specified under IFRS 15 and in the revenue recognition accounting poliey
explained in Note 4.7 are met requites significant judgement.

514 Classification of real estate

Management decides on acquisition of a teal estate whether 1t should be classified as trading, property under
development or investment propetty. Such judgement at acquisition determines whethet these propetties ate
subsequently measured at cost or net realisable value whichever 15 lower ot frit value and of the changes i fair
value of these propetties are reported in the conselidated statement of profit or loss,

The Gioup classifies property as trading property if it is acquired principally for sale in the ordinary cowse of
business. And if such properties are under development with an mtention of being sold i future they ate
classtfied under trading propertes undetr development.

The Group classifies property as investment property if it is acquired to generate rental income or for capital
appreciation. If such properties ate under development, they are classified under investment properties undey
development.

5.1.5  Significant inctease in credit risk

Estimated credit logses are measured as an allowance equal to 12-month ECL for stage 1 assets, or Ifetime
BCL for stage 2 o1 stage 3 assets An asset moves to stage 2 when its credit risk has increased significantly since
1t} 1ecogmnition. TFRS 9 does not define “significant” increase. Therefore, assessment whether the credit risk |
of an asset has sighuficantly increased, the Group takes into account qualitative and quantitanve reasonable and
suppottable forward-looking information.

5.2 Estimates uncertainty
Information about estimates and assumptions that have the most significant effect on recogpitton and
measutement of assets, liabilities, income and expenses is provided below. Actual results may be substantially

different.

521  Fairvalue of financial instruments

Management apply valuation techniques to detetmine the fait value of financial insttuments where active market
quotes are not available, This requires management to develop estimates and assumptions based on market
inputs, using observable data that market participants would use in pricing the instrument. Wheve such data is
not observable, management uses its best estimate, Estimated fair values of financal nstruments may vary
from the actual prices that would be achieved 1 an arm’s length transaction at the reporting date (see note 30).
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

5 Significant management judgments and estimation uncertainty
(continued)
5.2 Estimates uncertainty (continued)

5.2.2 Impairment of financial assets

Measurement of estimated ctedit Josses mvolves estimates of loss given default and piobability of default. Loss
given default is an estimate of the loss arising in case of default by customet. Probability of default is an estimate
of the likelihood of default in the future. ‘The calculation of which mcludes historical data, assumptions and
expectations ol future conditions, The Group based these estimates using teasonable and suppottable forwatd
looking information, which is based on assumptions for the future movement of different economic diivers
and how these drivess will affect each other,

523 Impairment of associates

After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to recognise any
impairment loss on the Group’s mvestiment in its associates, at each reporting date based on existence of any
objective evidence that the investment in the associate {s impaired If this is the case, the Group calculates the
amount of impairment as the difference between the secoverable amount of the associate and its carryng value
and tecognises the amount 1n the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

The Group’s management has updated the impairment studies of the associates. Impairment is assessed for the
entire catrying value of the Group’s investments in the associates including goodwill, therefore no unpairment
study for goodwill was required independently. The recoverable amount of the investment in associates had
been determined, based on value in use calculations, using cash flow projections based on financial budgets as

follows:

2621 2020
Kuwazit National Cinema Co. KPSC
Financial budgets cover period (years) 2026 — 2022 2021-2025
Discount rate (weighted average cost of capital) %10 10%
Terminal growth rate %2.75 2.75%
British Industries for Printing and Packaging KSCC
Financial budgets cover petied (ysars) - 2021-2025
Erscount rate {welghted average cost of capital) - 3.55%
BW Byritish for Printing Company - KSCC
Financial budgets cover period (years) - 2021-2025
Discount rate (weighied averagea cost of capital} - 4 92%

The discount rate reflects the curtent marker assessment of risks specific to assocates

Management believes that the catrying amouat of the investment in Kuwait National Cinema Company 1s not
impaired based on assessment of its recoverable value estimated using the value mn-use method. Tn priot year
The Group recorded impaiement losses of KI34,662 thousand i the consolidated statement of profit or loss
for the previous year for its investments in associates, “Bratish Industiies for Printing and Packaging Cotmpany™
and “BW British for Printing Company” based on estimated recoverable values (refer note 9).
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

5 Significant management judgments and estimation uncertainty
(continued)
5.2 Estimates uncertainty (continued)

5.2.4  Valuation of investment propertics

The Group carties its ifivestment propetties at fawr value, Changes in fair value ate recopnised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss. Far values are estimated by independent valiers who have used
valuation technigues. These estimated fatr values of investment properties may vary fiom the actual prices that
would be achieved in an arny’s lenpth transaction at the repotting date.

5.2.5 Impairment of teading properties and teading properties under development
trading propetties and trading properties under development are held at the lower of cost ot net realisable value.
Au cstimale 15 made of teit net realisable value on an indtvidual basts,

Management estimates the net 1ealisable values of these propetties, taking into sccount the most teliable
evidence avatlable at each reporting date, The futue realisation of these propetties may be affected by matket-
deiven changes that may reduce futuie sellmg prices,

526 Significanrt influence

Significant influence exists when the size of an entity’s own voting rights relative to the size and dispersion of
otlier vote holders, give the entity the practical ability umilaterally to duect the televant actvilies of the
Company.

6 Subsidiaries

6.1 The Group's consolidated subsidiaries are as follows:
P
Effective percentage
of ownership in

subsidiaries Country of Principal Date of Date of
Subsidiarles incorporation activity incorporation conérol
31 Dec. 31Dec
2021 2020
% %
Tamdeen Investment Company- . 3 March 11 January
KPSC* 55.94 55 94 Kuwait Investment 1997 26003
Manshar Real Estate Company - 17 March 17 March
KSC (Closed) 77.97 77.97 Kuwalt Real estate 2007 2007
Al Adiyat International Real Estate 25 June 1 April
Company — KSC (Closed) 98.98 098.98 Kuwait Real estate 2006 2012
Tamdeen Real Estate Development 21 July 1 April
33 a3 Kuwait Real estale 2008 2016

Company — KSC (Closed)*

* This investment is carried out thiough investment portfolio managed by a speciabized investment company

#* Tamdeen Real Lstate Development Company - IKSC (Closed) was 99.99% owaed by one of the Group's
subsidiaries (Tamdeen Investment Company - KPSC) as at 31 December 2018, Durmg the last quarter of
2019, Tamdeen Real Bstate Development Company — KSC (Closed) mereased 115 share capital by way of
tssuing shates to the Group and certain new shareholders which lead to 1 decrease in the effective ownership
percentage of the Group 1n the subsidiary However, the management belicves that the Group still has
control over the subsidiary
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

6 Subsidiaries (continued)

6.1 The Group's consolidated subsidiatics are as follows: (Continued)

On 22 September 2021, the Txiraordinaty General Assembly approved to increase the Company's authonzed,
issued and paid-up share capital from XD 12,500 thousand (divided into 125,000 thousand shases) to KD15,000
thousand (diwvided into 150,000 thousand shates), 1.e. an increase of KD 2,500 thousand by issuing 25,000
thousand shares with a nominal value of 100 fils per share, and alf shaves ate cash, This amendment was noted
1n the Commercial Register on 4 November2021.

(On 4 November 2021, the Board of Directors approved to call the first payment of the capital increase in cash
of KD 1,250 thousand divided into 12,500 thousand shares with 2 nominal value of 100 Kuwaiti fils. The capatal
increase was fully subscribed.

6.2 Subsidiaties with matetial non-conrrolling interests

The Group includes only one subsidiary with matesial non-contiolbng interests (NCIy:

Proportion of ownership
interests and voting rights Profit/ (loss) allocated

held by the NCI to NCI Accumulated NCi
Year ended Year ended

31 Dac. 31 bec. 31 Dec. 31 Dec. 31 Dec. 310ec

2021 2020 2021 2020 20214 2020

KD'000 K000 KD'000 KD'000

Tamdeen Investment Company-

KPSC* 44.06% 44,06% 2,244 (6,473 131,649 106,454
Immaterial subsidianes with non-
controlling interests - 2 10 10

2,244 (5471) 131,659 106,464

* The NCT of Manshar Real Estate Company — KSC (Closed) and Tamdeen Reat Estate Development
Company — KSC (Closed) are included within Tamdeen Investment Company’s NCL

6.3 Surnmatised financial information for Tamdeen Investment Company - KPSC, before intra-
Group eliminations, is set out below:

31 Dec. 31 Dec

2021 2020

KD'000 KD'¢oo
Non-current assets 270,771 212,625
Current assels 107,664 108,412
Total assets 378,435 321,037
Non-current Habilities (451) (401}
Current habilities (90,341) (89,436)
Total liabilities (90,792) (89,837)
Equity attributable to the shareholders of the Parent Company 155,011 123,364

Mon-controlling interests (including non-controlling interests in the subsidiary's
statement of financial position) 132,632 107,838
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

6 Subsidiaries {(continued)
6.3 Suromarised financial Information for Tamdeen Investmemt Company - KPSC, before

intraGroup eliminations, Is set out below: (Continued)

Year ended Year ended
31 Dec. 31 Dec
2024 2020
KD'000 KD'0go
Revenue /{Loss) 10,851 (1,138)
Profit/ {loss) for the year attributable o the shareholders of the Parent Company 3,357 (1,959)
Profit/ {foss) for the year attributable io NCI 2,244 (5,473)
Profit/ (ioss} for the year 5,601 (7.432)
Other comprehensive Income/ (loss) for the year attributable to the shareholders
of the Parent Company 20,127 (27,497)
Other compiehensive income/ (loss) for the year attnbutable to NCi 22,944 (21,658)
Total other comprehensive income/ (loss) for the year 52,071 (49,155)
Total comprehensive income/ (Joss) for the year attributable to the shareholders of
the Parent Company 31,928 (31,442)
Total comprehensive income/ (Joss) for the year attnbutable to NCI 25,150 (24,765}
Total comprehensive income/ (loss) for the year §7,078 {56,207}
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests - 1,787
Nel cash flows used In operating activities (2,577) (2,315)
Net cash flows from Investing activities 3,023 8,578
Net cash flows used in financing activities {2,331) {6,702)
Net change in cash flow {1,885} (439)
7 Cost of revenue
Year ended Year ended
31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2024 2020
KD'000 KD'000
Direct staff costs 1,882 2,070
Other real estate expenses 4,430 3,440
6,322 5510
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

8 Provision for contribution to KFAS, provision for Zakat and NLST

The provision fot conttibutton to [uwat Foundation for Advancement of Sciences (KFAS), ptovision for
Zakat and provision for National Labow Support Tax NLST) of the Pament Company and subsidiaries are as
follows:

Year ended 31 December 2021 Year ended 31 December 2020
Parent Parent
Company Subsidiaries Total Company Subsidiaries  Total
KD'0oQ KD'000 KD 000 KD'000 KD'000 KD'000
Provision for contnbution to KFAS - 84 84 - 8
Provision for Zakat - 143 143 - g
Provision for NLST 244 121 365 - -
244 348 592 - 17
L Net income/ {loss) from investments in associates
Year ended Year ended
31 Dec. 31 Dec
2021 2020
KD'000 KD'¢O0
Share of results of associates {Note 17) 7,409 (7,403}
impatment of investment In assoclates {Nole 5 2.3) - (4,662)
7,409 (12,085}

10 Basic and diluted earnings/{loss) per share attributable to owners of

the Parent Company
Basic and diluted earnings/(loss) pet shate is calculated by dividing the profit / (loss) for the year attibutable
to the owness of the Patent Cotmpany by the weighted average number of the outstanding shares duung the

year as follows:

Year ended Year ended
31 Dec. 31 Dec
2021 2020
Profil/ {loss) for the year attribuiable to the owners of the Parent Company
(KD'00D) 11,383 (12,283)
Weighled average number of the outstandmng shares (excluding {reasury
sharas) {One thousand share} 401,657 402,045

Basic and diluted earnings/(logs) per share attributable to owners of the
Parent Company 28.4 Fils (30 6) Fils
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

11 Accounts receivable and other dehit balances
3 Dec. 31 Dec
2021 2020
KD'040 KD'000
Trade receivables 877 689
Due from related parties 738 6
Cheques under collection 1,367 -
Due from sale of trading properties (a) 1,294 -
Due from sale of real estate plots (b} 4,949 2,167
Advance payments to contractors 110 1,044
Prepaid expenses 309 271
Accrued income 173 71
Other debit balances 771 869
8,577 5117
Provision for ECLs {c) {432) {267)
8,145 4,850

) The balances due from sale of trading properties ate mainly represented by the amounts due from the sale

transaction made by the parent company during the cutrent year for investment restdential towers unsts in
Tamdeen Square project (Tower B&C) (located in Sabah Al- Salem area) (See Note 15),

b} The amount duc from sale of real estate plots are mainly represented by the amounts due from the sale

transaction that has been previously performed by 2 subsidiaty for some of its real estate plots which have
been invested in for wading purposes to related parttes and other external parues. The Group’s
nanagement considers the credst tisk for these amounts as low as the counterparties are reputable with no
lhustory of default and contiims that the amounts due arc totally collectible fromn the concerned pailies, and
that the balances are guatanteed by a related patty.

¢} The Group has determined that ECI, allowance for trade receivables amounts to KID393 thousand (31
December 2020: KD214 thousand) and due from related patties and due from sale of tading properties
amounts to KD39 thousand (31 December 2020: KID53 thousand), The movement 1n the provision for
ECLs was as follows:

31 Dec, 31 Dec
2021 2020
KD'000 KD'000
Balance as at 1 January 267 320
ECL allowance for the year 180 600
Reversal of allowances ho longer required (18) (53)
Written off during the year - (600}

Balance at ond of the year 432 267
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

12 investments at fair value through other comprehensive income

31 Dec. 31 Pec,
2021 2020
KD'000 KD'0Go
Local managed portfolios 86 74
Participations In local companles shares 7,266 5,339
Pariicipallons in capital of companies located outside Kuwait 212,356 165,847
219,708 171,260

Participations in capital of companies located outside Kuwait include the investments of the subsidiacy
[Taindeen Investment Company ~ KPSC] in shates listed outside Kuwait. These particapauons include
investinents with a total fair value of KID128,575 thousand (31 December 2020: KID92,056 thousand)

mortgaged against term loans (Note 19).

During the cutrent year, a subsidiary of the Group disposed patt of an snvestment classified at fair value through
othet comprehensive income, The fair value of the disposed shates as at the date of de-recognition amounted
to KID1,159 thousand and the Gioup’s share of the related cumulative gan amounted to K480 thousand was
carried 11 the camulatve changes in fait value, The total cumulative gan (as a tesult of disposal) cartied in the
cumulative changes 1n fair value amounted to KID5,047 thousand (31 December 2020, IKID4,567 thousand).

Refet note 30.3 for Murther detadls relating to the carrying value and falr value of the above investments.

13 Investment property under development

31 Dec. 31 Dec
2021 2020
KD'000 KD'000
Cost
Rectlassiication from trading properiies under development (a) 18,200 -
Additions during the year 178 -
At end of the year 18,378 -

(a) Dunng the cusrent year, one of the Tamdeen Square towers (Tower A) (located in Sabah Al-Salem atea)
owned by one of the subsidiaries was reclassificd from tiading propeities under development to
investment property under development, as a result of group’s intention change tegarding the
possession of the property for the purpose of renting mstead of selling. Since the development of
propeity has not been completed by the subsidiary, it is classified as an investment property under

development {(note 14 - C).

(b) The additions to mvestmett propetites under development ropresent the consttuction and development

cost incurted during the year,

The fair value of mvestment peoperty undet development has been determined as at 31 December 2021
based on a valuation made by two independent valuers who do not have any selation fo the group, Fau

value has been deternined based on income caputalization approach.

Accotding to the financing contract, there 15 a mortgage contract on the investment property agamnst

term loans (note 19 ).

v sl e n o e e
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

14 Trading properties under development
31 Dec, 31 Dec
2021 2020
KD'000 KD'000

Cost

At beginning of the year 61,241 64,294

Additions during the year — (a) 2,201 1,447

Impairment in value - (b) - {4,500)

Reclassification (Tower A) to [nvestment property under development (see note

13) and (c) (18,200) .

Transferred to trading properties (Tower B&C) (¢) (45,242) -

At end of the year - 61,241

() The additions to trading properties under development duting the year represent the construction and
development cost incurred for Tamdeen Square project (located in Sabah Al-Salem area) for
constiuction of towers Lesidential units,

(b) During the ptevious year, the Group’s management decided to 1eassess the fait value of its trading
propetties under development through two mdependent teal estate valuers as at 31 December 2020 due
to the maket volatility arising from COVID-19. Consequently, the valuations obtatned from the valuets
resulted in a decline in value by KD 4,500 thousand

(6) Duting the cutrent yeat, two (B&C) of the three towers in the Tamdecen Square project (located in Sabah
Al-Salem ares) were Transferred from trading propetties under development to wading properties to
completion of construction and development wotks (Note 15). Regarding Towetr A it has been
teclassified to investment property under development (Note 13-A)

15 Trading properties
31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2021 2020
KD'000 KD'000

Cost

Transferred from trading properties under development (note 14-C) 45,242 -

Disposals due to sale (a) (16,187) -

At end of the year 29,055 -

A) Dunng the curtent yeat, some of residential towers units in Tamdeen Square project (Tower B&C).

(located in Sabah Al- Salem atea) were sold. 'The sale of these units resulted in a profit of KD 1,040
thousand which was recognized in the consolidated statement of profit and loss.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

16 Investment properties

31 Dec, 31 Dec
2021 2020
KD'00G KD'00o
Balance at beginning of the year 161,746 161,246
Addilions during the year 802 3,539
Change in fair value during the year (302) (3,039)
Balance at end of the year 162,246 161,746

The additions to mvestment properties represent the costs incuired duting the year for the tedevelopment of
AlKout Complex,

The fair value of investment propetties at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020 was determined based
on valuations obtathed from two independent valuets. Investment propetties are 1epresented by the catrying
values of Al-Il{out Mall and Hyatt Regency Hotel Al-IKout Mall (collectively referred to as “Al-Kout Complex™)
of KD 161,146 thousand (31 December 2020- KD 160,246 thousand) and carrying value of Souq Al-Kout of
KD1,100 thousand at 31 December 2021 (KID1,500 thousand at 31 December 2020) which is subject to 2
B.O.T contract with the Government of Kuwait where the contract terms end in 2024,

The estimation of fair value by independent real estate valueis has resulied in a change in fair value as a loss of
KD 302 thousand (loss of KID3,039 thousand as at 31 December 2020} being recognized 1n the consolidated
statement ol profit ot loss for the year (refer Note 30.4).

Investment properties with a carrying value of KI3161,146 thousand at 31 December 2021 (31 December 2020:
KID160,246 thousand) [“Al-Kout Complex”] are totally mortgaged aganst term loans (Note 19).

17  Investments in associates
This ttem comptises the mnvestments of the Group in the following associates:

31 December 2021 31 Dec 2020
Ownership % Ownership %
Place of
Company’s name incorporation  Direct  Indirect Value Dwrect  Indiwectt Value
KD'000 KD'O00
Tamdeen Shopping Centres 52,207
Company — KSC (Closed) (17-) Kuwatt 30 2 30 2 46,661
Kuwait National Cinemna (17-i) 57,907
Company - KPSC Kuwalt - 48 - 48 54,895
Tamdeen Pearl Real Estate 27,653
Company - KSC {Closed) (17-1)  Kuwait - 3 - K| 27,553
Other associates (17-a/b) Kuwait - - 2,815 - - 2810
140,462 131,749

* Indirect holding through the subsidiary [1l'amdeen Investment Company ~ KPSCJ.
g & ry p
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

17  iInvestments in associates (continued)

(2} Summatised financial infoimation m respect of each of the Group’s material associates, are set outin the
following notes (i), The summarsed financial information 1o these notes tepresents the amounts
presented in the audited financial statements of those associates (and not the Group’s shate in these
amounts) adjusted for differences 10 accounting policies between the Group and the associate.

(i) Tamdeen Shopping Centres Company — KSC (Closed) (unguoted investment)

31 Dec. 31 Dec,
2021 2020
KBD'0oo KD'000
Non-current assels 425,892 394,364
Current assels 64,967 58,232
Non-current llabitities {234,348) (228,607)
Current liabihties {79,422) {62,801)
Non-controfling interest {7,700) (7,753}
Equity atinbutable to the shareholders of the associate 169,391 152,336
Year ended Year ended
31 Dec. 31 Dec.,
2021 2020
KD'000 KD'000
Revenue 36,681 17,317
Profit/ (loss) for the year 16,744 {11,021)
Other comprehensive income for the year 1,315 301
Total comprehensive income!/ (loss) for the year 17,056 (10,850)
Group share of resulls in associate 5,092 (3,305}

A reconciltatton of the above summatised financial information to the cartying value of the favestment in

Tamdeen Shopping Centres Company — KSC (Closed) is set out below:

31 Dge. 31 Dec,
2021 2020
KD'000 KD'000
Net assels of the associate atiributable to the shareholders of the associate 169,391 152,335
Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest in the associate %32,34 32 34%
Other adjustments (2,577} {2,677}
Carrying value of the investment 52,207 46,691
(i) Kuwait National Cinema Company — KPSC (quoted investment)
31 Deg, 31 Dec
201 2020
KD'000 KD'000
Non-current assets 155,812 117,540
Current assets 21,210 21,592
Non-current fiabilities (59,742) (22,260)
Current liabilities (30,217) {35,937)
Non-controlling interest {16) (18)
Equity atlributable to the shareholders of the assoclate 87,047 80,917
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements {continued)

17 Investments in associates (continued)

(i) Kuwait National Cinema Company — XPSC (quoted investment) (continued)

Year ended Year ended
31 Dec. 31 Deg,
2021 2020

KD'000 KD'000
Revenue 7,615 4,842
Profit/(loss) for the year 4,390 (7.304)
Other comprehensive loss for the year {1,781) (6,302}
Total comprehensive income/ (loss) for the year 2,609 {13,606}
Dividends received from the associate during the year - 1,568
Group share of results In assoclate 2,122 {3,580)

A reconcihation of the above summatised financial information to the carrying value of the investment m
Iuawart National Cinema Company — KPSC is set out below:

31 Dec,. 31 Dec
2024 2020
KD'000 KDW00
Net assets of the assoclate attnbutable {o the shareholders of the associate 87,047 80,917
Proporiion of the Group's ownership interast in the assoclate 48.4% 48.4%
Goodwill 15,747 15,747
Carrying value of the Investment 57,907 54,895

The investment in this associate 15 partially secured against term loans Note 19) with a cartying value of
KI>33,850 thousand (31 December 2020: KD 25,947 thousand).

(iif) Tamdeen Pearl Real Estate Company — KSC (Closed) (unquoted investment)

31 Dec, 31 Dee.
2021 2020
KD'000 KD'000
Total assets 155,851 133,624
Total lfabilities {66,018) (43,691}
Non-controlling interest {201) (201)
Equity atinbutable to the shareholders of the associats 89,632 89,632
Year ended Year ended
31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2021 2020
KD'000 KD'000
Revenue 48 -
Loss for the year o) (36)
Total comprehensive loss for the year (1) (36)

Group share of results in associate - (11}
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

17  Investments in associates (continued)
(iii) Tamdeen Peatl Real Estate Company — KSC (Closed) {unquoted investment)

A reconciliation of the above summatised financial nformation Lo the cartyng value of the mvestment
Tamdeen Peatl Real Estate Company — KSC {Closed) 1s set out below:

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2021 2020
KD'000 KIrooo
Net assets of the associate altributable to the shareholders of the associate 89,632 89,632
Praportion of the Group's ownership interest in the associate 20.74% 30.74%
Carrying value of the investiment 27,653 27,553

All the associates of the Group ate not listed 1n active markers exeept for Kuwatt National Cinema Company
— KPSC and the far value of the Group's investinents in this associate amounted to KID39,473 thousand as at
31 December 2021 (31 December 2020: KD 33,828 thousand), The group's management emphasizes that the
investment amount i Kuwait Nationa! Cinema Corapany does not have a permanent decline in valuc based
ot an cstimate of s recoverable value, which is estinated using the value in-use method (refer note 5.2.3).

{#) Agpregate information of the associates that are not individually matetsal to the Group:

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2021 2020
KD'00C KD'0o0
The Group’s share of resuits 195 (507)
Aggregate carrying amount of the Group’s share In these associates as of
the reperting date 2,815 2,610

b) The Group’s shate of results of other associates has been recorded based on the latest available
| Toup's = ; . .
(audited/unaudited) financial information prepared by the managements of these associates for the year
ended 31 December 2021,

18  Due to banks

Due to banks repsesent the balances of the overdraft facilities and the Murabaha wotking capital facility which
ate gianted to the Group by local banks to finance the working capital and the real estate activittes, They are
repayable on demand with annual floating interest rate which is cqual to current interest rate m market,

19 Term [oans

31 Dec. 31 Dec
2024 2020
KD'o00 KD'00p
Term loans (a} 245,081 237,753

Average interest rate - range (above CBK rate) 1% - 1.25% 0.75% - 1.5%
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

19 Term loans (continued)

a) Term loans of KD77,000 thousand (31 December 2020: KD81,500 thousand) are contiactually due
after more than one year, and the remainmg term loans of KD169,081 thousand (31 December 2020:
KD156,253 thousand) are maturing within one year and rencwed pertodically.

b) The loans granted to the subsidiaries totalling to KID162,290 thousand (31 December 2020: KID166,383
thousand) ate against the mortgage of investments 1n shares with a fair value of KID128,575 thousand
(31 December 2020: KD92,056 thousand) (Note 12), mortgage of investtnents i associates by an
amount of KID33,850 thousand (31 December 2020: KID25,947 thousand) (Note 17) and mortgage of
investment properties of KD 161,146 thousand (31 December 2020, KD 160,246 thousand) {Note 16).

¢) Loans granted to a subsidiary of KD 11,383 thousand (31 December 2020: KD 11,440 thousand) are
secured against 4 pledge of an investment property under development (INote 13)

20 Accounts payable and other credit balances

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2024 2020

KD'000 KD'000
Reiained deposils agamsi executed works 12,012 14,873
Rental received in advance 741 790
Accrued interest, leave and other expenses 3,747 1,834
Lease Hability 1,651 157
Due to related parties 311 108
Dividends payable to shareholders 305 375
Advance payments received from customers 1,492 6,991
Accrued construction costs 2,197 3,513
Payable on acquisition of intangible assets - 1,640
Provisions and other credif balances 7,182 7,763
29,638 34,944

21 Share capital

As of 31 December 2021, the authorized, issued and fully paid shate capital in cash of the Pareat Company
comprised of 431,933 thousand shares of 100 Kuwaiti Fils each (31 December 2020. 431,933 thousand shares
of 100 Kuwait1 Iils each).

22 Treasury shares

31 Dec, 31 Dec

2021 2020
Number of shares - share 30,280,278 30,265,278
Percentage of Issued shares 7.01% 7.01%
Market value (KD'000) 9,871 8,172
Cost (KD'000) 14,926 11,922

23 Reserves

In accordance with the Companies Law,10% of the profit atttibutable to the owners of the Parent Company
before provision for contribution to KFAS, provision for Zakat, proviston for NLST and boaid of directors’
temuneration 1s transferred each year to the statutory reserve untd such time that the balance of the statutory
reserve account equals 50% of the balance of the pad-up shate capital
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

23 Reserves (continued)

Distiibution of the statutory reserve 15 limited to the amount requited to enable the payment of dividends of
5% of paid-up share capital to be made in years when relaned earnmngs are insufficient for the payment of
dividends of that amount.

10% of this profit before provision for contribution to KFAS, proviston for Zakat, provision for NLST and
boatd of directors’ remuneration is also transferred to the voluntary seserve, and this hansfer could be ceased
based on the decision of the Patent Company’s board of ditectors. Transfets to the voluntaty reserve are made
in accordance with the recominendation of the Patent Company’s boatd of directors to the general assembly.

No transfer 1s 1equited 1n a year in which the Parent Company has incurred a loss or when cumulative losses
cust

The amounts wansferred during the year to the statutory and voluntary reserves attributable to the Parent
Company have been calculated as follows:

Year ended Year ended
31 Dec. 31 Dec.
20 2020
KD'000 KD'000
Profit/(loss) for the year 13,637 (17,764)
Less:
(Profit)! loss attributable to non-controlling interests (2,244} 5471
Profit/ loss} attributable 1o owners of the Parent Company 11,393 (12,293)
Add:
Board of directors' remuneration of the Parent Company 60 -
Pravision for National Labour Support Tax (NLST) of the Parent Company 244 -
Provision for Zakat of the Parent Campany - -
Pravision for contribution to Kuwalit Foundation for the Advancement of
Sciences (KFAS) of the Parent Company - -
Profit/ {foss} attributable lo owners of the Parent Company before provision for
contribution to KFAS, provision for Zakat, provision for NLST and board of
directors’ remuneration 11,697 (12,293)
Transferred to the statutory reserve (10%) 1,170 -
Transferred to voluntary reserve (10%) 1,170 -

24  Annual general assembly of sharecholders and proposed dividends and

remunerations
The board of directors of the Parent Company proposed to distribute cash dividends to the shareholders at
10% or equivalent to 10 Kuwaiti fils per share of the paid-up shate capstal for the year ended 31 December
2021, and to pay the board of directors' remuneration of KID60 thousands. These proposals are subject to
apptoval of the genetal assembly of sharcholders,

The General Assembly of sharcholders held on 5 May 2021 appioved the consolidated financial statemesnts for
the year ended 31 December 2020 and directors” proposal to not distetbute cash divedends and not pay the
board of ditcctors’ remuneration for the year ended 31 December 2020 (the Genetal Assembly of shatcholders
held on 28 June 2020 approved to distribute cash dividends at 5% o1 equivalent to 5 Kuwaitd Pils per share
from the patd-up share capital to the shateholdets, and to pay the board of directors' remuneraton of KD60
thousand for the year ended 31 December 2019)
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

25 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents included in the consolidated staternent of cash flows compuse of the following
balances of the consolidated staternent of financial position:

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2024 2020
KD'000 KD'000
Cash and bank balances 32,592 28,641
Short term depostts 75 2,635
32,667 31,278

Short term deposits earn tnterest at average annual tate of 1.25% (annual tate of 1.4% in 2020),

26 Segmental analysis

The Group aclivities are concentrated in fwo main segments: Real Fstale and Investment. The segments’ results
are repotted to the top management in the Group. The activities of the Group a1e puincipally cartied out within
the State of Iuwait; With the exception of participations in capital of compantes located outside Kuwart (Note
12), all of the assets and liabilities ave located inside Kuwait.

The following is the seginents information, which confotms with the intetnal reporting presented to
management:

Real estate Investment Total
KD'000 KD'000 KD'000
Year ended at 31 December 2021
Gross Income 21,964 13,646 35,510
profit for the year 5,341 8,296 13,637
Total assets 225,816 392,664 618,480
Total llabililes {201,859) (90,794) (292,653)
Total equity 23,957 301,870 325,827
Real estate Investment Total
KD'00D KD'000 KB'ooo
Year ended at 31 December 2020
Gross income 5,334 {1,918) 3418
Loss for the year (9,550) (8,214} (17,764}
Total assets 233,844 335,657 569,401
Total iabilities {218,790) (89,837) (308,627)

Total equity 15,054 245,720 260,774
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

27 Related party transactions

Relared patties reptesent assoctates, ditectors and key management personnel of the Group, and other related
patties such as major shareholders and companies in which directors and key management personncl of the Group
ate principal owners ot over which they are able to exercise significant mfluence or joint control, Prcing polites
and terms of these transactions are approved by the Group’s management,

Details of significant related party tansactions and balances are as follows:

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2021 2020
KD'G00 KD'000
Consoiidated statement of financial position
Accounts receivable and other debit balances (Note 11) 736 6
Accounts payable and other credit bafances (Nole 20) 311 108
Additions to Investment properiies and trading properties under development 146 580
Year ended Year ended
31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2021 2020
KD'000 KD'000
Consolidated statement of profit or loss
Operating revenue 275 108
income from Management and consultancy fees 748 724
Cost of revenue 1,972 2,174
General, adminisirative and other expenses 951 722
ECL provisions for receivables . GO0
Benefits of key management personnel of the Group
Salaries and short term employee benefits and board of directors’ remuneration 920 865
31 Dec. 31 Dec
2021 2020
KD'0090 KD'000
Contra accounts — off consolldated statement of financial position items
Net book value of customers' portfolios (major shareholders) managed by
Tamdeen Investment Company — KPSC {subsichary) (Note 28} 168,182 75,350

28 Capital commitments and contingent liabilities

At the date of the consolidated statement of financual position, the Group had contingent liabiities against
letters of guarantee issued in favour of third parties of KID 2,031 thousand (KD 1,925 thousand at 31 December
2020),

29 Contra accounts - off consolidated statement of financial position

items
One of the subsidiaries [Tamdeen Investment Company ~ KPSC] manages investment portfolios for third
parties which had a net book value of KID 189,739 thousand at 31 December 2021 (31 December 2020: KD
128,976 thousand) including KD 168,182 rthousand (31 December 2020: KD 75,350 thousand) related to
portfolios fot related parties (Note 27). These balances are not included in the consolidated statement of
financial posttion.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

30 Summary of financial assets and liahilities by category and fair value
measurement

30.1  Categoties of financial assets and liabilities
The caerying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities as stated in the consolidated statement of
financial position may also be categorized as follows:

31 Dee. 3t Dec.
2021 2020
KD'000 KD'000
Financiai assets
Financial assets at amortised cost:
- Accounts receivable and other debit balances {excluding advance payments to
contractors and prepaid expenses) } 6,735 3,635
- Cash and cash equivalents (Note 25) 32,667 31,276
Financial assets at fair value:
- Investments at fair value through other comprehensive income 219,708 171,260
Total financial assets 259,110 206,071
Finaneal Jiabilities
Financiai liabilities at amortised cost:
- Due to banks 7171 26,267
- Term loans 246,081 237,753
- Accounts payable and other credit balances 29,638 34,944
- Refundable rental deposits 7,086 8,077
Total financial liabilities 280,876 307,041

36.2  Fair value measurement

Fair value represents the price that would be received to sell an asset ot paid to tansfer a liability in an ordely
transaction between market pacticipants at the measucement date. Investments at fair value theough profit or
loss and mvestments a1 fait value through other comprehensive income ate carried at far value and
measurement details are disclosed in note 30.3 to the consolidated financial statements, In the opinton of the
Group’s management, the carrying amounts of all other financial assets and liabilities which are at amortised
costs 1s considercd a reasonable approximation of their fajy values. The Group also measutes non-financial
assets such as investment propetues at fatr value at each annual reporting date (note 16 and 30.4)

30.3  Fairvalue hierarchy

All financial assets and liabiittes for which fair value 1s measured or disclosed in the consolidated financial
statements are grouped into thiee Levels of a faw value hierarchy. The three Levels are defined based on the
observability of significant inputs to the measurement, as follows:

- TLevel 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or habthives;

- Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that ate observable for the asset or liability,
etther directly (i.c as ptices) ot ndirectly (1. dexived from prices); and

- Ievel 3: inputs for the asset and liability that ate not based on observable market daa (that 1, unobservable
inputs).

The level within which the asset or liability 18 classified is determined based on the lowest level of significant
input to the fair value measurement

The financial assets and liabilities measured at farr value on a 1ecurring basis in the statement of consolidated
financial position are grouped into the far value hierarchy as follows:
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

30 Summary of financial assets and liabilities by category and fair value
measurement (continued)

30,3  Faiz valuc hicrarchy (continued)

Note Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
KD000 KD’000 KD'000 KD'0g0
Financtal assets at fair value at 31
December 2021
Investments at fair vatue through
other comprehensive income
- Local managed portfolios
» Quoted shares 8 86 - - 86
- Participations in local companies shares
e Quoted shares a 7,029 - - 7,029
+ Unquoted shares b - - 237 237
- Participations in capital of companies
located oufside Kuwait
«  Quoted shares a 210,864 - - 210,864
» Unquoted shares b - - 1,492 1,492
217,979 - 1,729 219,708
Financial assets at fair value at 31
December 2020
Investments at fair value through
other comprehensive income
- Local managed portfolios
e Quoted shares a 74 - - 74
- Participations in local companies shares
»  Quoted shares a 5,102 - - 5,102
*  Unquoted shares b - - 237 237
- Participations in capital of companies
located outside Kuwalt
¢« Quoted shares a 163,748 - - 163,748
«  Unguoted shares b - - 2,099 2,099
168,924 - 2,336 171,260

There have been no significant transfers between levels 1 and 2 during the reporting period.

Measurement at fair value

The Group's finance team performs valuations of financial items for financial reporting purposes, including
Level 3 fait values, m consultation with thisd patty valuation specialists fot complex valvations, whete required

Valuation techniques are selected based on the characteristics of each instrument, with the overall objective of
maxirnuzing the use of market-based information.

The methods and valuation techniques used for the purpose of measuting fair value are unchanged compared
to the previous reporting period.

a) Quoted shares (level 1)
The quoted shares present all listed shares that are traded in the financial markets. The fair values ate determined
by reference to the latest bid prices at the reporting date.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

30 Summary of financial assets and liabilities by category and fair value
measurement (continued)

36.3  Fair value hierarchy (continued)

b) Unquoted shares (level 3)

The fair value of unquoted shares 15 determined by using valuation techniques. Fawr value for the unguoted
shares investments are approximately total estimated value of underlying investrments as if realised on the date
of the consolidated statement of financial position. The investment managers in delermining the fair value of
these investments use a vatiety of methods and makes assumptions that are based on market conditions exssting
at each consolidated financial position date. Investment managers also used techniques such as discounted cash
flow analysis, recent transactions prices and market multiples to determine fas value,

With regard to certain other unquoted shares, mformatron 15 limited to petiodic financial 1eports submitted by
the managets of the investment, These investments ase stated al net assets value teported by the managers of
the investment. Due to the nature of these investments, net assets value repotted by the manageis of the
mvestment represents the best esttmation of available fawr values for these mvestments.

Level 3 - fair value measurements
Reconcihaton of level 3 fair value measurements is as follows: ,

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2021 2020

KD'000 KD'000
Balance as at 1 January 2,336 3,075 )
Change in fair value during the year (607} (739) !
Balance as at 31 December 1,729 2,336
The level 3 investments have been faie valued as follows: ‘
Relationship of L
Valuation techniques and  Significant unobservable  unchservable input to fair '

Financlal assets key Input input value

Book value adjusted with The higher the market risk
Unquoted shares Adjusted hook value market risk the lower the fair value

Changing mputs to the level 3 valuations to reasonably possible alternative assumptions would not change
sygnificantly amounts recognized in the consolidated statement of profit ot loss and other compeehensive
income, total assets, total habilities or total equuty.



Teattrdonn Foud Fatats Sorapay ~ GG 4%
¢ od Bubiangs

Cansohidaned Flnascial Stutoraeniy

3 Deczmber 2024

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

30 Summary of financial assets and liabilities by category and fair value
measurement (continued)

304  Fairvalue measurement of non-financial assets
The following table shows the Levels within the hietarchy of non-financial zssets measured at fanr value on a
recurring basts at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
KD'000 KD 000 KD'000 KD'000
31 December 2021
Investment properties:
- Al-Kout Mall and Hyatt Regency Hotel
Al-Kout Mall {Al-Kout Complex) - - 161,146 161,146
- Soug Al-Kolt - - 1,100 1,100
. - 162,246 162,248
31 December 2020
Investment properties:
- Al-Kout Mall and Hyatt Regency Hotel
Al-Kout Mall (Al-Kout Complex) - . 160,246 160,246
- Souq Al-Kout - - 1,500 1,500
- - 161,746 161,746

The fair value of the investment properties has been determined, based on the lower of two valuations obtaned
from independent valuers {one of the valuers is a bank located in Kuwait), who aze specialized 10 valutng ths
type of investment propertics. One of the valuers has valued the investrment propertics primatly using two
methods, one of which 1s the yield method and the othet being a combination of the market comparison
approach for the land and cost minus depieciation approach for butldings. The other valuer has used the market
comparison approach n arriving at the fair value. When the matket comparison approach 15 used, adjustments
have been incotporated for factors spectfic to the properties in question, including property size, location,
economitc condition, similar property prices in surrounding area and permitted activities on the property.

Level 3 « fair value measurements

The measutement of the investment propertics classified 1n level 3 uses valuation techniques inputs that are
not based on obsetrvable maiket data. The investment propertics within this level can be teconcded from
beginning to ending balances as follows:

31 Dec. 31 Dec
2021 2020
KD'000 KD'000
QOpening balance 161,746 161,246
Additions during the year 802 3,639
Changes in fair value (302) (3,039}

Closing balance 162,246 161,746

fen
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

31 Risk management ohbjectives and policies

The Group’s acuvities expose it to vatiety of financial sisks: markes risk (incloding foreign curreney risk, interest
rate risk, and price risk), ctedit visk and Liquidity 1isk.

The Patent Company’s boatd of directors are ultimately responsible for the overall sk management and for
approving risk stiategies and principles. The Group’s wusk rmanagement is cartied out by investment
management and audit committee and focuses on actively securing the Group’s shott to medium term cash
flows by minimizing the potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance through mternal nsk
cepotts. Long teem financial nvestments are managed to generate lasting returns

The Gioup does not enter into ot trade financial instiuments, inclucing derivative financial instruments, for
speculative purposes,

The most significant financial risks to which the Group is exposed to arc as follows:
311 Market risk

a) Foreign cutrency risk
Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair values or future cash (lows of a finanetal insttument will fluctuate

due to changes in foreign exchange rates,

The Group manly operates in the Kuwait, GCC and other Middle Eastern countues, and is exposed to foteign
cutrency risk ansing from various foreign currency exposures, piimarily with respect to US Dollar. Foteign
exchange risk arises from future commercial transactions, recognised assets and habilities and net investments
in foreign operations,

To mitigate the Group’s exposute to foreign currency tisk, management monitots a balances of assets and
labilities exposed to the foreign currency tisk to minumize fluctuations and enter into forward foreign exchange
contracts, if needed, in accordance with the Group’s risks management polictes. Generally, the Group’s tisk
management procedures distinguish short-letm foreign currency cash flows (due within twelve months) from
long-tetm cash flows, Where the amounts to be pard and received w1 specific curtency ate expected to lasgely
offset one another, no further hedging activity is undertaken. Forward foreign exchange contracts may be
entered tnto for significant long-term foreign cutrency exposures that are not expected to be offset by othet
foreign cucrency transacttons.

The Group had the following sighificant exposuies denominated in foreign currencies, translated into Kuwain
Dinar at the closing rate:

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2021 2020
KD'¢00 KD'Go0
US Doliar 231,374 187,957

IF the Kuwaiti Dinar had stiengthened/weakened against the foreign cutrencies by 5%, then thus would have
mmpact on the equity by IKID10,543 thousand (31 Decerber 2020, KD8,187 thousand).

Exposures to foieign exchange rates vary during the year depending on the volume and natwe of the
transactions, Nonetheless, the analysis above represents the Group’s exposute to the foreipn cutrency 1sle.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

31 Risk management objectives and policies (continued)
311 Market risk {continued)

b) Intercst rate risk

Interest rate 1isk atises from the possibility that changes 1n interest tates will affect future profitability or the
fatr values of financial instruments. The Group is exposed to interest rate risk with tespect Lo tts short term
depossts, and 1ts borrowings (lerm loans and due to banks) . The borrowings mainly represent short- and long-
term borrowings and bear fixed or vatizble 1ntetest rates. 'L'he management has established levels of interest
rate usk by sctting limits on the interest rate paps for supulated periods.

Positions ate monitored on a regular basis and hedging strategies maybe used to ensure positions are maintained
within established limits,

The following table illustrates the sensitivity of the profit/ (loss) for the year to a reasonably possible change
in intesest rales of +0.5% and ~ 0.5% (31 December 2020: +0.5 % and — 0.5%) retrospectively from the
beginning of the year, These changes ate considered to be reasonably possible hased on obscrvation of current
matket condition, The calculations ate based on the Group’s financial instroments exposed to interest rate risk
held at the date of the consolidated statement of financial position All other vartables are held constant. There
has been no change during this year in the methods and assumptions used in preparing the scnsttivity analysis.

Year ended 31 Dec. 2021 Year ended 31 Dec. 2020

+0.5% -0.5% +0.5% -0.5%

KD'009) KD'000 KD'000 KD000

Effect on profit/ (loss) for the year {825) 825 (851 851

) Price risk
The Gioup 15 exposcd to equity price sk with respect to its equity investments, Equity investments are .
clagsified either as investments at fair value through profit or loss (including trading securitres) and investments
at fair value through other comprehensive imcome, The Group’s investments ate listed on the Kuwat Stock
Exchange and other Gulf markets.

To manage its price risk atising from investments in equity securities, the Group divetsifies its investment
porifolio where possible. Diversification of the portfolio is done in accordance with the lunits set by the Group

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on the exposute to equity price tisks at the date of
the consolidated financial statements. There has been ne change in the methods and assumptions used in the
preparation of the sensttevity analysis,

If the prices of secutities had been 5% higher/lower, the effect on profit/({loss) for the yeat and equity for the
year ended 31 December would have been as follows:

Profit! {loss) for the year Equity
Year ended Year ended
31 Dec. 31 Dec. 31 Dec, 31 Dec.
2021 2020 2021 2020
Kp'0oo KD'C00 KD'000 KD000
Marke! Stock Exchange mndex + 5% - - 10,899 8.446
Market Stock Exchange index — 5% . - {10,899} (8.446)

3.2  Creditrisk
Credht tisk 15 the risk that one patty to a financial mstrument wall fail to discharge an obligation and cause the other
party to incur a financial loss, The Group’s credit policy and cxposute to credit sk s monttored on an ongomng

basis. ‘The Group seeks to avoid undue concentrations of usks with individuals o1 gioups of customers in specitic

locations or business throngh divewsification of its actrvities, It also obtans collatetal secunity when appropriate.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

31 Risk management objectives and policies (continued)

312 Credit risk (continued)
The Group’s exposure to credit nisk is limited to the cauying amounts of financial assets tecognised at the date
of the consolidated statement of financial position, as summaLtzed below:

31 Dec. 31 Dec
2021 2020

KD'0oo KD'000

Cash and cash equivalents {Note 25) 32,667 31,276
Accounts receivable and other debit balances (excluding advance payments

{0 contractors and prepard expenses) 6,735 3,635
nvestments at fair value through other comprehensive Income 219,708 171,260
259,110 206,07t

The credit tisk for bank balances included within cash and cash equivalents is considered negligible since the
countetparties are reputable financial institutions with high credit qualigy,

Credit t1sk details relating to accounts teceivable ate disclosed in Note 11,

313  Concentration of assets by location
The disttibution of assets by geographic region was as follows:

Other middle
east
Kuwait countries Total
KD'000 KD'000 KD'000

At 31 December 2021
Geographic reglon:
Cash and bank balances 32,592 - 32,692
Short term deposits 75 - 75
Accounts receivable and other debit balances 8,145 - 8,145
Investrnents at fair value through other comprehensive income 7,352 212,356 219,708
Investment property under devefopment 18,378 - 18,378
Trading properties 29,055 - 29,055
Investment properties 162,246 - 162,246
Investments in associates 140,482 - 140,482
Intangible assets 1,131 - 1131
Other assets 6,668 - 6,668

406,124 212,356 618,480
At 31 December 2020
Geographic region:
Cash and bank balances 28,641 - 28 641
Short term deposits 2,635 - 2635
Accounts recelvable and other debit balances 4,850 - 4 850
Investments at fair value through other comprehensive income 5,413 165,847 171,260
Trading properties under development 61,241 - 61,241
Investment properties 161,746 - 161,746
Investments in associates 131,749 - 131,749
Intangible assets 2,315 - 2,315
Other assets 4,964 - 4,964

403,654 165,847 569,401
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

M Risk management objectives and policies (continued)

314 Liquidity risk

Liquidity sl 15 the r1sk that the Group will be unable to meet its liabilities when they fall due. To Limut this
sk, the Group’s management has atranged diversified funding sources, manages assets with liquicity m mind,
and monitots hquidity on a tegular basis.

The table below summatises the maturity profile of the Group’s assets and liabulities. Except for the thvestments
at fau value through other comprehensive mcome and investment properties, the maturities of assets and
liabilities have been deteunined on the basis of the temaining period fiom the tepotting date to the contractual
maiurity date,

The maturity profile for the investments at fair value through other compreliensive income and investment
. . g L) . P ¥
propetties is detesmined based on management’s estimate of liquidation of those investments.

Maturity profile of assets and liabilities are as follows:

31 Dacember 2021 31 December 2020

l.ess than Less than

1 year Over 1 year Total 1 year Over 1 year Total
KD'000 KD'000 KD'000 KD'000 KB'000 KD'0oo

ASSETS
Cash and bank balances 32,592 - 32,592 28,641 - 28,641
Short term deposits 75 - 75 2,835 - 2,635
Accounts recelvable and

other deblt balances 8,145 - 8,145 4,850 - 4850
Investments at fair value

through other

comprehensive income 82,290 137,418 219,708 82,383 B8, 877 171,260
Investment property under

development - 18,378 18,378 - -
Trading properties under

development - - “ 61,241 61,241
Trading properties 29,055 - 29,055 - - -
Investment properties - 162,248 162,246 - 161,746 161,746
Investments in assoclates - 140,482 140,482 - 131,749 131,749
Intangible assets - 1,131 1131 - 2,315 2,315
Other assets - 6,668 6,668 - 4,864 4,964

162,157 466,323 618,480 179,760 389,651 569,401

LIABILITIES
Due to banks 7,471 - 7,171 26,267 - 28,267
Term loans 169,081 77,000 246,081 156,263 81,500 237,753
Accounts payable and other

credit balances 11,767 17,871 29,638 8,871 26,073 34,944
Refundable rental deposits - 7,986 7,986 - 8,077 8,077
Provision for end of service

indamnity - 1,777 1,777 - 1,586 1,586

188,019 104,634 292,653 191,391 117,236 308,627
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

31 Risk management objectives and policies (continued)

304  Liguidity risk (continued)
The contractual maturities of (inancial habtlities based on undiscounted cash flows ate as follows:

Up to 1 1-3 3412 Above 1
month months months year Total
KD'000 KD'00) KD'000 KD'000 KD'000
31 December 2021
Financial liabllities (undiscounted)

Due {o banks 1,462 1,080 4,629 . 7,171
Term loans - 2,014 128,154 132,589 263,757
Accounts payable and other credit balahces 901 3,203 7,663 17,871 29,638
Refundable rental deposits - - . 7.986 7,986
2,363 6,297 141,446 158,446 308,552
31 December 2020
Financlal liabilities (undiscounted)
Due to banks - 2,123 24,144 - 26,267
Term loans - 3,072 157,553 86,032 246,657
Accounts payable and other credit balances 698 1,230 6,943 26,073 34,944
Refundable rental deposits - - - 8,077 8,077
698 6,425 188,640 120,182 315,945

32 Capital management objectives
The Group’s capital management objectives ate to ensure the Group’s ability to continue as a going concetn
and to provide adequate return to its sharcholders through the optimization of the capttal stneture

‘The Group manages the capital structure and makes adjustments in the light of changes 1n economic conditions
and tisk chatacteristics of the underlying assets, In order to mamtain or adjust the capital structure, the Group
may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

"T'he capttal strucrute of the Group consists of the following:

31 Dec, 31 Dec
2021 2020

KD'0g0 KD'008
Due to banks 7474 26,267
Term loans 246,081 237,753
Less. Cash and cash equivalents (32,667} (31,276)
Net debt 220,585 232,744
Equity attnbutable to owners of the Parent Company 194,168 154,310
Non-controlhing interests 134,659 106,464

Total capital 546,412 4935618
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

32 Capital management objectives (continued)
The Group manages the capital sttuctute on the basis of the geatng ratio. This gearing 1atio 1s calculated as net
debt drvided by total capital as follows:

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2021 2020
KD'000 KD'000
Net debt 220,585 232,744
Totat capital 546,412 493,518
Gearing ratio 40% 47%

33 Legal cases

On 6 Apeii2021, the Court of Cassation in Qatat 1ssued a verdict in favour of the paient company, obligating
Barwa Real Estate Company in Qatar to pay an amount of KD 1,441 thousand and an amount of QAR 500
thousand (equivalent to KD 42 thousand) as compensation for the costs incurred by the pagent company during
previous years thiough a real estate investment, This judpment was implemented during the cuerent period.
The amounts stated in the judgment issued by the Cout of Cassation were collected of K12 1,471 thousand
(net of legal expenses equivalent to QAR 18,150 thousand) and recognized as other income in the consolidated
statement of profit o loss for the curtent year.

The main contractor (NASA Construction Company for General Trading and Contracung - LLC) for the
construction and implementation of the Tamdeen Squate project (located 1 Sabah Al-Salemn arca), has filed an
arbitration case in the International Coutt of Arbitration of the International Chamber of Commerce aganst
Tatndeen Comypany Real Estate for the purpose of chtaming mternational aibatration regarding the quidation
of the account of the project with the parent company. The arbitration proceeding 15 1n tes tutial stages, and
thus the management asserts that at the present time it is too early to predict the final cutcome of the case and
1o determine the extent of the case

Durmg the previous year, an administrative appeal judgment was issued regarding a lepal case in favour of
Muustry of Finence in otder to increase the rental value of the project of development seafront from KD75
thousand Lo become KID213 thousand in exchange for the use of the project starting fiom T October 2007 and
tll the 1ssuance of the final judgement regarding this lepal case. [ lowever, the appenl judgment will not have a
material linancal effect on the consolidated financial statements since the Group had pieviously made the
necessary provistons to cover the amount referred to in the judgement The Group appealed by cassation
against the judgement, The appeal mcluded an utgent request to suspend the sentence pending a decision 15
1ssued on the appeal. A decision was issued by the Cowt of Cassation on 9 December 2020 approving the
request for suspension of sentence contained in the statement of appeal by cassation subnutted by the Group
until the decision is made on the Group’s appeal and the appeal filed by the Ministry of Finance after: they are
joined togethet.

34 Covid19 Pandemic Impact

The outbreak of Coronavitus {(“COVID19™) pandemic and telated global tesponses have caused matertal
disruptions to businesses around the wotld, leading to an economic slowdown. Global and local equity matkets
have expeuenced significant volatility and weakness. While govetnments and central banks have reacted with
vartous financtal packages and reliefs designed to stabibise economic condidons, the duration and extent of the
impact of the COVIDIY outbreak, as well as the effectiveness of govetnment and central bank responscs,
remains unclear at this time, However, Management of the Group is actively monitoring the effects COVID-
19 may have on tts busmess operations,
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

34 Covid19 Pandemic Impact (continued)

In light of COVID-19 pandemic, the Group has considered whether it is necessary (o consider and report any
adjustments and changes in judgments, estimates and risk management in the consolidated financeal statements.
Below are the key assumptions about the futute and other key sources of esumation that may have a significant
tisk of causing matetial adjustments to the consolidated financial statements,

Nou-finansal assets

As at the reporting date, the Group did not determine any significant impact on the carrying amount of tts non-
financial assets, The Group is aware that certain geographies and sectors m which these assets exist ate
negatively impacted, and as the simation continmes to uafold, the Group consistently monttors the matket
outlook and uses relevant assumptions in reflecling the values of these non-financial assets appropuately m the
consolidated financial sratements.

Bair valuation of financal asels

The Group has studied the potential effects of fluctuations in the current matket to determine the cattying
amounts ol the Group's unquoted financial assets. It repiesents management's best assessment based on the
avatlable observable information al the reporting date. Given the impact of Covid-19, the Group 15 closely
monitoting whether the fait value of the financial assets and labilities iepresents the puice that would be
achieved [or (ransactions between market patticipants under the cutrent sttuation

Gog vonteern

The Group has assessed whether the Group will continue to operate as a going concern m light of cutrent
economic conditions and all available information on future risks and uncertamties. The projections covering
the Group‘s future petformance, shate capital and liquidity have been prepared. The impact of COVID-19 may
continue to evolve, but expectations reflect at the curtent time that the Group has sufficient resources to
continue its operational existence and its going concern remains largely unaffected. As a result, the consolidated
financial statements have been appropriately prepared on a going concetn basts.
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